
 

 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and 
 

Commissioning 
 

Samantha Lawton 
 
Governance and Commissioning 
 

PO Box 1720  
 

Huddersfield 
 

 

HD1 9EL 
 

Tel: 01484 221000  
 

Please ask for: Sheila Dykes 
 

Email: governance.planning@kirklees.gov.uk 
 

Wednesday 22 January 2025 
 

Notice of Meeting 
 
Dear Member 
 

Strategic Planning Committee 
 

The Strategic Planning Committee will meet in the Council Chamber, Town 
Hall, Huddersfield at 1.00 pm on Thursday 30 January 2025. 
 
(A coach will depart the Town Hall, at 11:00 a.m. to undertake site visits. The consideration 
of planning applications will commence at 1.00 pm in the Council Chamber) 
 
This meeting will be webcast live and will be available to view via the Council’s website. 
 
The items which will be discussed are described in the agenda and there are reports 
attached which give more details. 
 
 

 
 

Samantha Lawton 
 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and Commissioning 
 
 
Kirklees Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its democratic 
processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the meeting should 
inform the Chair/Clerk of their intentions prior to the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

The Strategic Planning Committee members are:- 
 

 
When a Member of the Strategic Planning Committee cannot attend the meeting, a 
member of the Substitutes Panel (below) may attend in their place in accordance with the 
provision of Council Procedure Rule 35(7). 
 

Substitutes Panel 
 
Conservative 
D Bellamy 
D Hall 
J Taylor 
C Holt

Green 
K Allison 
A Cooper 
S Lee-
Richards

Labour 
M Ahmed 
S Ullah 
B Addy 
M Crook 
J Rylah 
A Sewell  
H McCarthy 
E Firth 

Liberal 
Democrat 
PA Davies 
J Lawson 
A Munro 
A Marchington 
A Smith 
C Burke 
D Longstaff 
A Robinson 

Community 
Alliance 
A Zaman 
C Scott 

Kirklees 
Community 
Independents 
A Arshad

 
 
 
 

Member 
Councillor James Homewood (Chair) 
Councillor Bill Armer 
Councillor Jo Lawson 
Councillor Paul Moore 
Councillor Andrew Pinnock 
Councillor Mohan Sokhal 
Councillor Mark Thompson 
 



 

 

 

Agenda 
Reports or Explanatory Notes Attached 

 

 
  Pages 

 

1:   Membership of the Committee 
 
To receive apologies for absence from those Members who are 
unable to attend the meeting and details of substitutions and for 
whom they are attending. 

 
 

 

 

2:   Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
To approve the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 5th 
December 2024. 

 
 

1 - 10 

 

3:   Declaration of Interests and Lobbying 
 
Members will be asked to say if there are any items on the Agenda 
in which they have any disclosable pecuniary interests, any other 
interests, or been lobbied, which may prevent them from 
participating in any discussion of the items or participating in any 
vote upon the items. 

 
 

11 - 12 

 

4:   Admission of the Public 
 
Most agenda items take place in public. This only changes where 
there is a need to consider exempt information, as contained at 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. You will be 
informed at this point which items are to be recommended for 
exclusion and to be resolved by the Committee. 

 
 

 

 

5:   Public Question Time 
 
To receive any public questions. 
  
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11, the period for the 
asking and answering of public questions shall not exceed 15 
minutes. 
 
Any questions must be submitted in writing at least three clear 
working days in advance of the meeting. 

 
 

 

 



 

 

6:   Deputations/Petitions 
 
The Committee will receive any petitions and/or deputations from 
members of the public. A deputation is where up to five people can 
attend the meeting and make a presentation on some particular 
issue of concern.  
 
A member of the public can also submit a petition at the meeting 
relating to a matter on which the body has powers and 
responsibilities. 
 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 10, members of the 
public must submit a deputation in writing, at least three clear 
working days in advance of the meeting and shall subsequently be 
notified if the deputation shall be heard. A maximum of four 
deputations shall be heard at any one meeting. 

 
 

 

 
 

7:   Planning Applications 
 
The Planning Committee will consider the attached schedule of 
Planning Applications.     
 
Please note that any members of the public who wish to speak at the 
meeting must register to speak by 5.00pm (for phone requests) or 
11:59pm (for email requests) on Monday 27th January 2025 . 
 
To register, please email governance.planning@kirklees.gov.uk or 
phone the Governance Team on 01484 221000. 

 
 

13 - 14 

 
 

8:   Site Visit - Planning Application 2023/91405 
 
Planning Application 2023/91405 - Erection of foodstore (class E) 
with associated access, parking, servicing area and landscaping on 
part of former St Luke's Hospital site, Blackmoorfoot Road, Crosland 
Moor, Huddersfield. 
 
Ward affected: Crosland Moor and Netherton 
 
Contact: Nick Hirst, Planning Services  
 
Estimated time of arrival on site: 11:10 a.m. 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 

9:   Planning Application - Application No: 2023/91405 
 
Planning Application 2023/91405 - Erection of foodstore (class E) 
with associated access, parking, servicing area and landscaping on 
part of former St Luke's Hospital site, Blackmoorfoot Road, Crosland 
Moor, Huddersfield. 
 
Ward affected: Crosland Moor and Netherton 
 
Contact: Nick Hirst, Planning Services  

 
 

15 - 52 

 

Planning Update 
 

 

An update report providing further information on matters raised after the publication of the 
agenda will be added to the online agenda prior to the meeting. 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

Contact Officer: Sheila Dykes  
 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 
 

STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Thursday 5th December 2024 
 
Present: Councillor James Homewood (Chair) 
 Councillor Bill Armer 

Councillor Jo Lawson 
Councillor Andrew Pinnock 
Councillor Mohan Sokhal 

  
Apologies: Councillor Mark Thompson 
 

 
1 Membership of the Committee 

Apologies were received from Councillor Mark Thompson. 
 

2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
RESOLVED – 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 5th September 2024 be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

3 Declaration of Interests and Lobbying 
All Members of the Committee declared the receipt of an email from a fellow 
Councillor in respect of Application 2023/91116. 
 

4 Admission of the Public 
All items were considered in public session. 
 

5 Public Question Time 
No questions were asked. 
 

6 Deputations/Petitions 
No deputations or petitions were received. 
 

7 Site Visit - Planning Application 2023/91116 
Site visit undertaken. 
 

8 Site Visit - Planning Application 2023/91212 
Site visit undertaken. 
 

9 Site Visit - Planning Application 2024/90357 
Site visit undertaken. 
 
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Strategic Planning Committee -  5 December 2024 
 

2 
 

10 Planning Application - Application No: 2023/91116 
The Committee considered Planning Application 2023/91116 in respect of the 
erection of 77 dwellings, with access from Darley Road and associated works, at 
land off Primrose Lane, Hightown, Liversedge. 
 
Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 36(3), the Committee received a 
representation on behalf of Councillor David Hall. 
 
Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 37, the Committee received 
representations from Jonathan Ainley (on behalf of the applicant). 
 
RESOLVED - 
(1) That approval of the application and the issuing of the decision notice be 

delegated to the Head of Planning and Development in order to: 
 

(a) complete the list of conditions including those contained within the report, 
as set out below: 
1. Three years to commence development. 
2. Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

and specifications. 
3. Material samples to be submitted and approved. 
4. Details of boundary treatment, not to include ‘brick’, to be submitted 

and approved. 
5. Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP), to include 

dust mitigation, to be submitted, approved, and implemented. 
6. Road condition survey to be submitted and approved. 
7. Details of preliminary street design details to be submitted and 

approved. 
8. Completion of Estate Street Phasing Plan to be submitted and 

approved. 
9. Details of management of waste to be submitted and approved. 
10. Construction phase waste collection strategy. 
11. Vehicle and pedestrian spaces to be laid out. 
12. Details of footpaths and Active Travel Links to be submitted and 

approved. 
13. Details travel plan to be submitted and approved. 
14. Details of highway retaining walls and structures to be submitted and 

approved. 
15. Details of cycle storage facilities to be provided and approved. 
16. Full technical details of the drainage strategy to be provided, approved 

and implemented. 
17. Flood routing strategy to be provided, approved, and implemented. 
18. Details of temporary surface water drainage arrangements, during 

construction, to be provided and adhered to. 
19. CEMP: Biodiversity to be submitted, approved, and implemented. 
20. Ecological Design Strategy to secure habitat units on site plus 

ecological mitigation measures and improvement to woodland. 
21. No site clearance within the bird breeding season (unless appropriate 

survey undertaken). 
22. Electric Vehicle Charging Points (EVCP) to be provided and retained. 
23. Dust mitigation measures to be implemented during construction. 

Page 2



Strategic Planning Committee -  5 December 2024 
 

3 
 

24. Landscape strategy, to include management and maintenance 
arrangements, to be provided and implemented. 

25. Coal legacy investigation and/or remediation to be undertaken (subject 
to review of further details). 

26. Contamination investigation and/or remediation to be undertaken 
(subject to review of further details). 

 
(b) secure a Section 106 agreement to cover the following matters: 

(i) Affordable Housing: 15 units (20%) to consist of 8 Affordable Rent 
(55%) and 7 Intermediate Dwellings (45%), including 5 First Homes 
(25%). 

(ii) Ecological Net Gain (to secure 10% net gain off-site): £14,467 
towards off-site ecological habitat enhancement. 

(iii) Public Open space: Delivery of the on-site Public Open Space, a 
£1,000 inspection fee, and an off-site contribution to local public 
open space of £118,220. 

(iv) Education: £118,791 towards education requirements arising from 
the development. 

(v) Highways: £10,000 towards promoting a Traffic Regulation Order 
along Darley Road and Ripley Road, including at the Ripley Road / 
Halifax Road junction. 

(vi) Sustainable travel: £69,385.50 towards Sustainable Travel 
measures (including £39,385.50 for sustainable travel fund (such 
as Metrocards), £20,000 towards bus stop improvements (on 
Halifax Road) and £10,000 towards travel plan monitoring). 

(vii) Management and maintenance: Management and maintenance of 
on-site Public Open Space in perpetuity, drainage features in 
perpetuity (unless adopted by Yorkshire Water), and Biodiversity 
Net Gain measures for a minimum of 30 years. 

 
(2) That, on receipt of the Intrusive Ground Investigation Report with regard to 

legacy coal mining and contaminated land, the Head of Planning and 
Development re-consult with the Coal Authority and Kirklees Council 
Environmental Health and, thereafter, proceed as follows: 
a) In the scenario where the report concludes there is no conflict with 

plots 06, 07 and/or 10, determine the application as set out in (1) 
above. 

b) In the scenario where the report concludes that there is a conflict with 
plots 06, 07 and/or 10, which cannot be remediated to the satisfaction 
of the Local Planning Authority (advised by the Coal Authority and/or 
Kirklees Council Environmental Health), amend the proposal to 
remove the plot(s) in conflict. Thereafter, complete the list of 
conditions, including those contained within this report as set out in (1) 
above, and secure a Section 106 agreement (with the contributions as 
set out in (1) above recalculated, pro-rata, to account for the reduced 
housing provision). 

  
 
 

Page 3



Strategic Planning Committee -  5 December 2024 
 

4 
 

(3) That, in the circumstances where the Section 106 agreement has not been 
completed within 3 months of the date of the Committee’s resolution then the 
Head of Planning and Development shall consider whether permission 
should be refused on the grounds that the proposals are unacceptable in the 
absence of the benefits that would have been secured; and if so, the Head of 
Planning and Development be authorised to determine the application and 
impose appropriate reasons for refusal under delegated powers. 

 
A recorded vote was taken, in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 42(5), as 
set out below: 
For: Councillors Armer, Homewood, Lawson, Pinnock and Sokhal (5 votes) 
Against: No votes 
 
 

11 Planning Application - Application No. 2023/91212 
The Committee considered Planning Application 2023/91212 in relation to the 
erection of 21 dwellings, with access from Laithe Avenue, at land off Bankfield 
Drive, Holmbridge, Holmfirth. 
 
Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 37, the Committee received 
representations from Ian Hodgkinson, Steve Elvidge, Rick Cocker, Angela Mitchell 
and Sally Emmett (in objection) and Candy Day (on behalf of the applicant). 
 
RESOLVED – 
(1) That approval of the application and the issuing of the decision notice be 

delegated to the Head of Planning and Development in order to: 
 

(a) complete the list of conditions including those contained within the report, 
as set out below: 

1. Three years to commence development. 
2.  Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
3.  Samples of walling and roofing materials. 
4.  Details of windows and doors. 
5.  All windows to be set back into the reveal by 100mm. 
6.  Details of secure cycle storage. 
7.  Submission of a highway condition survey and remediation measures. 
8.  Details regarding the management of waste. 
9.  Details of vehicle and pedestrian spaces. 
10.  Means of access to and from the site shall be in accordance with the 

preliminary access arrangements shown on the approved plans. 
11.  Details of the preliminary street and footpath design. 
12.  Off-site highway works to be provided as shown on 22027/GA/01 Rev. 

D.  
13. Submission of a full structural dilapidation survey of the existing dry 

stone highway retaining wall adjacent to Dobb Top Road. 
14.  Details for new retaining walls / building retaining walls/ attenuation 

tanks adjacent to the proposed adoptable / existing highway including 
any proposed modifications to the existing highway retaining wall 
adjacent to Dobb Top Road. 

Page 4



Strategic Planning Committee -  5 December 2024 
 

5 
 

15.  Details of the design and construction details for all new surface water 
attenuation tanks / pipes/manholes located within the proposed 
highway footprint or influence zone of highway loading. 

16. Reporting of unexpected land contamination. 
17.  Submission of a verification report. 
18.  Submission of a strategy for imported materials. 
19.  A scheme detailing the Electric Vehicle Charging Points (EVCPs). 
20. Submission of a Construction Environmental Management Plan. 
21.  Details of measures to deter crime and anti-social behaviour. 
22.  Management and maintenance of landscaped areas. 
23.  Submission of a Biodiversity Enhancement and Management Plan. 
24.  Submission of a CEMP:Biodiversity. 
25.  Full details of boundary treatment (including the increased size of the 

hedge to the eastern boundary). 
26.  Submission of an informed by up-to-date ECIA to include additional 

surveys of invasive species during optimal growing season. 
27. Submission of a revised Method Statement for the Retaining Wall 

(given the location of the attenuation tank). 
 

(b) secure a Section 106 agreement to cover the following matters: 
(i) Affordable Housing: Three affordable housing units (all First Homes, 

comprising 2x 2-bed and 1x 3-bed) to be provided in perpetuity. 
(ii) Biodiversity: Contribution of £104,880 towards off-site measures to 

achieve biodiversity net gain, with authority being delegated to the 
Head of Planning and Development to amend the contribution amount, 
as necessary, further to the receipt of an amended bio-diversity metric 
calculation. 

(iii) Public Open Space: An off-site contribution of £55,932.16. 
(iv) Public Right of Way: A contribution of £10,000 for the connection onto 

the Public Right of Way (HOL/91/20). 
(v) Management and maintenance: The establishment of a management 

company for the management and maintenance of any land not within 
private curtilages or adopted by other parties, and of infrastructure 
(including surface water drainage until formally adopted by the 
statutory undertaker).  

 
(2) That, in the circumstances where the Section 106 agreement has not been 
completed within 3 months of the date of the Committee’s resolution then the Head 
of Planning and Development shall consider whether permission should be refused 
on the grounds that the proposals are unacceptable in the absence of the benefits 
that would have been secured; and if so, the Head of Planning and Development be 
authorised to determine the application and impose appropriate reasons for refusal 
under delegated powers. 
 
A recorded vote was taken, in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 42(5), as 
set out below: 
For: Councillors Homewood, Lawson, Pinnock and Sokhal (4 votes) 
Against: Councillor Armer (1 vote) 
 
  

Page 5



Strategic Planning Committee -  5 December 2024 
 

6 
 

12 Planning Application - Application No. 2023/92490 
The Committee considered Planning Application 2023/92490 relating to the erection 
of 35 dwellings with associated access and landscaping (within a Conservation 
Area) at the Former Dowker Works, Dowker Street, Milnsbridge, Huddersfield. 
 
RESOLVED - 
(1) That approval of the application and the issuing of the decision notice be 

delegated to the Head of Planning and Development in order to: 
 

(a) complete the list of conditions including those contained within the report 
and the Planning Update, as set out below: 

1. Three years to commence development. 
2.  Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

and documents. 
3. Samples of all walling materials. 
4. Notwithstanding the submitted plans, plots 1-3 to be developed from 

natural stone to the front and gable elevations. 
5. Notwithstanding the submitted plans, the roofing materials to include 

artificial or natural blue slate, including samples. 
6. Details of windows and doors. 
7. All windows to be set back into the reveal by 100mm. 
8. Full details/locations of PV panels. 
9.  Full details/locations of the air source heat pumps. 
10. Full details of boundary treatments. 
11. Details of measures to deter crime and anti-social behaviour. 
12. Submission of a CEMP. 
13. Management and maintenance of green space. 
14. Submission of full drainage details. 
15. Management and maintenance of drainage features (crate 

storage/attenuation). 
16. Bin store details. 
17. Details of temporary waste storage and collection (during 

construction). 
18. Submission of Phase 1. 
19. Submission of Phase 2. 
20. Submission of Remediation Strategy. 
21. Implementation of Remediation Strategy. 
22. Submission of Validation Report. 
23. Submission of a Noise Assessment and Mitigation Scheme. 
24. Details of EVCP’s. 
25. Permeable surfacing to all vehicle parking areas. 
26. Details of any new retaining walls/ building retaining walls adjacent to 

the proposed adoptable highway. 
27. Proposed design and construction details for the 

reconstruction/strengthening of culverted section of Longwood Brook 
within the highway footprint. 

28. Details of any drainage in the highway. 
29. Submission of an up to date survey of Longwood Brook. 
30. Development in accordance with Affordable Housing Statement. 

Page 6



Strategic Planning Committee -  5 December 2024 
 

7 
 

31. Technical road specification, including point of access, to be provided, 
approved, and implemented. 

32. Technical footpath specification (linking southern car parking court to 
George Street) to be provided, approved, and implemented. 

33. Parking spaces as shown to be provided prior to occupation. 
34. Details of cycle storage facilities to be provided, approved, and 

implemented. 
35. Construction Management Plan to be provided, approved, and 

implemented. 
36. Pre and post development road condition surveys to be undertaken. 

 
(b) secure a Section 106 agreement to cover the following matters: 

 
(i) Highways: £10,000 towards promoting a Traffic Regulation Order along 

Dowker Street. 
(ii) Management and Maintenance: The establishment of a management 

company for the purpose of maintaining the shared green open spaces 
(including ecological management), the private parking areas and of 
infrastructure (including surface water drainage until formally adopted by 
the statutory undertaker). 
 

(2) That, in the circumstances where the Section 106 agreement has not been 
completed within 3 months of the date of the Committee’s resolution then the 
Head of Planning and Development shall consider whether permission 
should be refused on the grounds that the proposals are unacceptable in the 
absence of the benefits that would have been secured; and if so, the Head of 
Planning and Development be authorised to determine the application and 
impose appropriate reasons for refusal under delegated powers. 
 

A recorded vote was taken, in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 42(5), as 
set out below: 
For: Councillors Armer, Homewood, Lawson, Pinnock and Sokhal (5 votes) 
Against: No votes 
 
 

13 Planning Application - Application No. 2024/90357 
The Committee considered Planning Application 2024/90357 in relation to the 
removal of Conditions 10, 12, 13, 14, 20, 33, 38, 39 and 40 and variation of 
Conditions 1, 19, 24, 29, 34, 36 and 37 of previous permission, 2019/90949, for 
variation of Condition 18 (crushing and screening operations) on previous 
permission, 2013/90793, for mineral extraction at land adjacent to Thewlis Lane, 
Crosland Hill, Huddersfield. 
 
Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 37, the Committee received a 
representation from Ben Parkes (on behalf of the applicant). 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



Strategic Planning Committee -  5 December 2024 
 

8 
 

RESOLVED - 
 
(1) That approval of the application and the issuing of the decision notice be 

delegated to the Head of Planning and Development in order to: 
 

(a) Allow the publicity period to expire. 
 
(b) complete the list of conditions including those contained within the report, 

as set out below: 
1. Development to be completed by 31/12/2027. 
2. A copy of approved documents/plans to be retained on site at all times 

for inspection. 
3. Development to be carried out in accordance with approved 

plans/documents. 
4. Prior cessation measures to deal with restoration and aftercare in the 

event that mineral extraction is abandoned/ceases. 
5. Sole means of vehicular access to and egress site via Thewlis Lane. 
6. No commercial vehicles shall enter public highway from permitted site 

unless wheels and chassis cleaned. 
7. The heavy plant crossing point on Thewlis Lane approved under 

Discharge of Conditions Application 2014/90920 shall be retained. 
8. The total tonnage of material exported from and imported to the 

application site shall not exceed 2500 tonnes per day in total. 
9. The temporary bridleway as shown on drawings TL1181-D7 rev C and 

10093/600 rev A, shall be retained. 
10. Previous condition deleted. 
11. The development shall be carried out in accordance with details 

approved under Discharge of Conditions application 2014/90920 with 
regard to geotechnical stability. 

12. The temporary screen mounds shall be respread back into the site as 
per submitted drawing TL1181-D7 rev C. 

13. Previous condition deleted. 
14. Previous condition deleted. 
15. No mineral extraction shall take place below the topographical levels 

previous approved under planning permissions regulating operations. 
16. No mineral extraction within the site shall take place below the 

topographical levels indicated on plan 10093/464 ‘Cross Sections 
Through Thewlis Lane Quarry’. 

17. All mobile crushing and screening operations shall be carried out in 
accordance with previously approved details. 

18. All mobile screening and crushing operations shall only use mineral 
extracted from Thewlis Lane, used for backfilling of Thewlis Lane and 
not export material from the site. 

19. The quarry void shall be backfilled in accordance with submitted 
details and drawing TL1181-D7 rev C. 

20. Previous condition deleted. 
21. From the date of this permission the operator shall maintain records of 

monthly production and mineral extraction. 
22. There shall be no discharge of foul or contaminated water from the site 

into either groundwater or any surface waters. 

Page 8



Strategic Planning Committee -  5 December 2024 
 

9 
 

23. Any facilities for the storage of oils, fuels, or chemicals shall be sited 
on impervious bases and surrounded by impervious bund walls. 

24. The development shall only be carried out in accordance with 
submitted Flood Risk Assessment. 

25. Previous condition deleted. 
26. The stripping, movement and replacement of topsoil and subsoil shall 

only be carried out under sufficiently dry and friable conditions. 
27. Previous condition deleted. 
28. Previous condition deleted. 
29. After the completion of mineral extraction, the site shall be 

progressively restored to grassland in accordance with the submitted 
details. 

30. The final surface of backfilled quarry overburden shall be graded to 
provide an even surface 500mm lower than the agreed final contours. 

31. The spreading of subsoil and topsoil shall only be carried out when the 
material is in a dry and friable condition. 

32. Soils to be respread using a backacter. All stones and any other object 
larger than 75mm shall be removed from the surface of the soil. 

33. Topsoil shall be spread over the surface of the areas to be restored to 
grassland following completion of works in conditions 30 and 32. 

34. Previous condition deleted. 
35. If satisfactory grass growth is not obtained as a result of the initial 

sowing, such part shall be cultivated and reseeded, after the correction 
of any nutrient deficiencies in the soil. 

36. Previous condition deleted. 
37. Previous aftercare conditions (37-40) combined into one, as follows: 

An outline aftercare scheme detailing the steps which may be 
necessary over the aftercare period of five years, to ensure a grass 
sward is established for the whole of the area edged red east of 
Thewlis Lane, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Mineral Planning Authority at least three months prior to the 
completion of the site restoration. The approved aftercare scheme 
shall provide details of: 
a) The person responsible for implementing the aftercare scheme; 
b) A plan showing the area subject to aftercare, with demarcation of 
any areas having different aftercare steps or management proposals; 
and 
c) The steps to be carried out in each area during the aftercare period 
and their timing within the overall programme to ensure grassland is 
maintained. 
Following compliance with above, a detailed annual aftercare 
programme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Mineral Planning Authority before 31 August in each year of aftercare 
of the site. The programme submitted shall amplify the aftercare 
scheme for works to be carried out in the following 12 months, 
including any modifications to the original proposals 

38. Previous aftercare conditions (37-40). 
39. Previous aftercare conditions (37-40). 
40. Previous aftercare conditions (37-40). 

Page 9



Strategic Planning Committee -  5 December 2024 
 

10 
 

41. Hours for operation of the quarry in accordance with previous 
approved details. 

42. Development to be carried out in accordance with previously approved 
Noise Impact Assessment/restrictions. 

43. Exceptionally noisy operations shall only be carried out within 
previously approved details. 

44. All vehicles, plant and machinery operated within the site shall be 
maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's specifications at all 
times. 

45. All vehicles on site shall operate using broad band reversing alarms 
only. 

46. There shall be no blasting. 
47. The development to be carried out in accordance with the noise 

monitoring scheme approved under Discharge of Conditions 
application 2014/90396. 

48. The clean supply of water currently provided for the suppression of 
dust shall be maintained. 

49. The development shall be carried out in accordance with previously 
approved dust suppression scheme. 

50. The development shall be carried out in accordance with previously 
approved dust monitoring scheme. 

51. There shall be no storage of waste skips or containers or other plant 
and equipment not directly associated with the operation of the quarry. 

52. Removal of Permitted Development rights – No fixed plant or 
machinery, buildings, structures and erections, or private ways which 
would project above natural ground levels.  

53. Reporting of any artefact or feature of archaeological or geological 
interest encountered on the site 

 
(c) secure a Deed of Variation to the original Section 106 agreement, dated 

9-6-2006 associated with permission 2003/91691.  
 

(2) That, should the remaining publicity period raise issues that would result in 
substantive changes to the officer recommendation, the Head of Planning 
and Development, in consultation with the Chair, will decide whether the 
application should be re-submitted for consideration by the Committee. 

 
(3) That, in the circumstances where the Section 106 Deed of Variation has not 

been completed within 3 months of the date of the Committee’s resolution 
then the Head of Planning and Development shall consider whether 
permission should be refused on the grounds that the proposals are 
unacceptable in the absence of the benefits that would have been secured; 
and if so, the Head of Planning and Development be authorised to determine 
the application and impose appropriate reasons for refusal under delegated 
powers. 

 
A recorded vote was taken, in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 42(5), as 
set out below: 
For: Councillors Armer, Homewood, Lawson, Pinnock and Sokhal (5 votes) 
Against: No votes 

Page 10



 

K
IR

K
LE

ES
 C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

 
D

EC
LA

R
A

TI
O

N
 O

F 
IN

TE
R

ES
TS

 A
N

D
 L

O
B

B
YI

N
G

 
 

S
tra

te
gi

c 
Pl

an
ni

ng
 C

om
m

itt
ee

 

N
am

e 
of

 C
ou

nc
ill

or
 

Ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 
yo

u 
ha

ve
 a

n 
in

te
re

st
 

Ty
pe

 o
f i

nt
er

es
t (

eg
 a

 
di

sc
lo

sa
bl

e 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

 o
r a

n 
“O

th
er

 
In

te
re

st
”)

 

D
oe

s 
th

e 
na

tu
re

 o
f t

he
 in

te
re

st
 re

qu
ire

 y
ou

 to
 

w
ith

dr
aw

 fr
om

 th
e 

m
ee

tin
g 

w
hi

le
 th

e 
ite

m
 in

 w
hi

ch
 

yo
u 

ha
ve

 a
n 

in
te

re
st

 is
 u

nd
er

 c
on

si
de

ra
tio

n?
  [

Y/
N

] 

B
rie

f d
es

cr
ip

tio
n 

of
 y

ou
r i

nt
er

es
t 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

LO
B

B
YI

N
G

 
 

D
at

e 
A

pp
lic

at
io

n/
Pa

ge
 

N
o.

 
Lo

bb
ie

d 
B

y 
(N

am
e 

of
 

pe
rs

on
) 

A
pp

lic
an

t 
O

bj
ec

to
r 

Su
pp

or
te

r 
A

ct
io

n 
ta

ke
n 

/ 
A

dv
ic

e 
gi

ve
n 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  
Si

gn
ed

: 
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
 

D
at

ed
: 

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

.. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



N
O

TE
S 

 D
is

cl
os

ab
le

 P
ec

un
ia

ry
 In

te
re

st
s 

 If 
yo

u 
ha

ve
 a

ny
 o

f t
he

 fo
llo

w
in

g 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

s,
 th

ey
 a

re
 y

ou
r d

is
cl

os
ab

le
 p

ec
un

ia
ry

 in
te

re
st

s 
un

de
r t

he
 n

ew
 n

at
io

na
l r

ul
es

. A
ny

 re
fe

re
nc

e 
to

 
sp

ou
se

 o
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 in

cl
ud

es
 a

ny
 p

er
so

n 
w

ith
 w

ho
m

 y
ou

 a
re

 li
vi

ng
 a

s 
hu

sb
an

d 
or

 w
ife

, o
r a

s 
if 

th
ey

 w
er

e 
yo

ur
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
. 

 An
y 

em
pl

oy
m

en
t, 

of
fic

e,
 tr

ad
e,

 p
ro

fe
ss

io
n 

or
 v

oc
at

io
n 

ca
rri

ed
 o

n 
fo

r p
ro

fit
 o

r g
ai

n,
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, u
nd

er
ta

ke
s.

 
 An

y 
pa

ym
en

t o
r p

ro
vi

si
on

 o
f a

ny
 o

th
er

 fi
na

nc
ia

l b
en

ef
it 

(o
th

er
 th

an
 fr

om
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y)
 m

ad
e 

or
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
re

le
va

nt
 p

er
io

d 
in

 
re

sp
ec

t o
f a

ny
 e

xp
en

se
s 

in
cu

rr
ed

 b
y 

yo
u 

in
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

ou
t d

ut
ie

s 
as

 a
 m

em
be

r, 
or

 to
w

ar
ds

 y
ou

r e
le

ct
io

n 
ex

pe
ns

es
. 

 An
y 

co
nt

ra
ct

 w
hi

ch
 is

 m
ad

e 
be

tw
ee

n 
yo

u,
 o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 (o

r a
 b

od
y 

in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
as

 
a 

be
ne

fic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t) 
an

d 
yo

ur
 c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y 
- 

• 
un

de
r w

hi
ch

 g
oo

ds
 o

r s
er

vi
ce

s 
ar

e 
to

 b
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 o
r w

or
ks

 a
re

 to
 b

e 
ex

ec
ut

ed
; a

nd
 

• 
w

hi
ch

 h
as

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
fu

lly
 d

is
ch

ar
ge

d.
 

An
y 

be
ne

fic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t i
n 

la
nd

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

av
e 

an
d 

w
hi

ch
 is

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
ar

ea
 o

f y
ou

r c
ou

nc
il 

or
 a

ut
ho

rit
y.

 

An
y 

lic
en

ce
 (a

lo
ne

 o
r j

oi
nt

ly
 w

ith
 o

th
er

s)
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
ol

ds
 to

 o
cc

up
y 

la
nd

 in
 th

e 
ar

ea
 o

f y
ou

r c
ou

nc
il 

or
 

au
th

or
ity

 fo
r a

 m
on

th
 o

r l
on

ge
r. 

 An
y 

te
na

nc
y 

w
he

re
 (t

o 
yo

ur
 k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 - 

th
e 

la
nd

lo
rd

 is
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y;
 a

nd
 th

e 
te

na
nt

 is
 a

 b
od

y 
in

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r 

ci
vi

l p
ar

tn
er

, h
as

 a
 b

en
ef

ic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t. 
 An

y 
be

ne
fic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

 h
as

 in
 s

ec
ur

iti
es

 o
f a

 b
od

y 
w

he
re

 - 
(a

) t
ha

t b
od

y 
(to

 y
ou

r k
no

w
le

dg
e)

 h
as

 a
 p

la
ce

 o
f b

us
in

es
s 

or
 la

nd
 in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y;
 a

nd
 

(b
) e

ith
er

 - 
th

e 
to

ta
l n

om
in

al
 v

al
ue

 o
f t

he
 s

ec
ur

iti
es

 e
xc

ee
ds

 £
25

,0
00

 o
r o

ne
 h

un
dr

ed
th

 o
f t

he
 to

ta
l i

ss
ue

d 
sh

ar
e 

ca
pi

ta
l o

f t
ha

t  
bo

dy
; o

r 
if 

th
e 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t b

od
y 

is
 o

f m
or

e 
th

an
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

, t
he

 to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ha

re
s 

of
 a

ny
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

 in
 

w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

as
 a

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t e

xc
ee

ds
 o

ne
 h

un
dr

ed
th

 o
f t

he
 to

ta
l i

ss
ue

d 
sh

ar
e 

ca
pi

ta
l o

f t
ha

t c
la

ss
. 

 

Lo
bb

yi
ng

 
 If 

yo
u 

ar
e 

ap
pr

oa
ch

ed
 b

y 
an

y 
M

em
be

r o
f t

he
 p

ub
lic

 in
 re

sp
ec

t o
f a

n 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

n 
on

 th
e 

ag
en

da
 y

ou
 m

us
t d

ec
la

re
d 

th
at

 y
ou

 h
av

e 
be

en
 lo

bb
ie

d.
 A

 
de

cl
ar

at
io

n 
of

 lo
bb

yi
ng

 d
oe

s 
no

t a
ffe

ct
 y

ou
r a

bi
lit

y 
to

 p
ar

tic
ip

at
e 

in
 th

e 
co

ns
id

er
at

io
n 

or
 d

et
er

m
in

at
io

n 
of

 th
e 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
n.

 

Page 12



In respect of the consideration of all the planning applications on this agenda the 
following information applies: 
 
PLANNING POLICY 
 
The statutory development plan is the starting point in the consideration of planning 
applications for the development or use of land unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise (Section 38(6) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  
 
The statutory Development Plan for Kirklees is the Local Plan (adopted 27th February 
2019) and the Holme Valley Neighbourhood Development Plan (adopted 8th December 
2021).  
 
National Policy/ Guidelines  
 
National planning policy and guidance is set out in National Policy Statements, primarily 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) published 20th December 2023 the 
Planning Practice Guidance Suite (PPGS) first launched 6th March 2014 together with 
Circulars, Ministerial Statements and associated technical guidance.  
 
The NPPF constitutes guidance for local planning authorities and is a material 
consideration in determining applications. 
 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

Cabinet agreed the Development Management Charter in July 2015. This sets out how 
people and organisations will be enabled and encouraged to be involved in the 
development management process relating to planning applications. 
 

The applications have been publicised by way of press notice, site notice and neighbour 
letters (as appropriate) in accordance with the Development Management Charter and 
in full accordance with the requirements of regulation, statute and national guidance.  
 
EQUALITY ISSUES   
 
The Council has a general duty under section 149 Equality Act 2010 to have due regard 
to eliminating conduct that is prohibited by the Act, advancing equality of opportunity 
and fostering good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
people who do not share that characteristic. The relevant protected characteristics are: 
 

 age; 

 disability; 

 gender reassignment; 

 pregnancy and maternity; 

 race; 

 religion or belief; 

 sex; 

 sexual orientation. 
 

In the event that a specific development proposal has particular equality implications, 
the report will detail how the duty to have “due regard” to them has been discharged. 
  

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



 
HUMAN RIGHTS 
 
The Council has had regard to the Human Rights Act 1998, and in particular:-  
 

 Article 8 - Right to respect for private and family life.  
 

 Article 1 of the First Protocol - Right to peaceful enjoyment of property and 
possessions.   

 
The Council considers that the recommendations within the reports are in accordance 
with the law, proportionate and both necessary to protect the rights and freedoms of 
others and in the public interest.  
 
PLANNING CONDITIONS AND OBLIGATIONS 
 
Paragraph 55 of The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires that Local 
Planning Authorities consider whether otherwise unacceptable development could be 
made acceptable through the use of planning condition or obligations.   
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) stipulates that 
planning obligations (also known as section 106 agreements – of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990) should only be sought where they meet all of the following tests: 
 

 necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
 

 directly related to the development; and 
 

 fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 
 
The NPPF and further guidance in the PPGS, launched on 6th March 2014, require that 
planning conditions should only be imposed where they meet a series of key tests; these 
are in summary: 

1. necessary; 

2. relevant to planning and; 

3. to the development to be permitted; 

4. enforceable; 

5. precise and; 

6. reasonable in all other respects 

 
Recommendations made with respect to the applications brought before the 
Planning Committee have been made in accordance with the above requirements. 

Page 14



 

 
 
 
 
Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
 
STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Date: 30-Jan-2025  

Subject: Planning Application 2023/91405 Erection of foodstore (class E) with 
associated access, parking, servicing area and landscaping Part of former St 
Luke's Hospital site, Blackmoorfoot Road, Crosland Moor, Huddersfield, HD4 
5RA 

 
APPLICANT 

Lidl GB Ltd 

 
DATE VALID TARGET DATE EXTENSION EXPIRY DATE 

18-Jan-2024 18-Apr-2024  

 
Please click the following link for guidance notes on public speaking at planning 
committees, including how to pre-register your intention to speak. 
 
Public speaking at committee link--------------------------------------------------------------------
----------------- 
LOCATION PLAN  
 

 
Map not to scale – for identification purposes only 
  

Originator: Nick Hirst 
 
Tel: 01484 221000 

Page 15

Agenda Item 9

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/pdf/public-speaking-committee.pdf


 
 
Electoral wards affected: Crosland Moor and Netherton  
 
Ward Councillors consulted: Yes 
 
Public or private: Public  
 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
DELEGATE approval of the application and the issuing of the decision notice to the 
Head of Planning and Development in order to complete the list of conditions including 
those contained within this report and to secure a Section 106 agreement to cover the 
following matter(s): 
 
Biodiversity Net Gain (to secure 10% net gain off-site): £37,030 towards off-site 
ecological habitat enhancement. 
 
In the circumstances where the Section 106 agreement has not been completed within 
three months of the date of the Committee’s resolution then the Head of Planning and 
Development shall consider whether permission should be refused on the grounds 
that the proposals are unacceptable in the absence of the benefits that would have 
been secured; if so, the Head of Planning and Development is authorised to determine 
the application and impose appropriate reasons for refusal under Delegated Powers. 
 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 This application seeks full planning permission for the erection of a foodstore 

(use class E) with associated access, parking, servicing area and landscaping. 
 
1.2 This application is brought to the Strategic Planning Committee in accordance 

with the Delegation Agreement due to a significant number of public 
representations being received that are contrary to the officers’ 
recommendation. 

 
2.0 SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 
 
2.1  The application site is brownfield land which was previously part of the St 

Luke’s hospital grounds. The hospital was demolished between 2013 and 
2014, with most of the hospital’s grounds subsequently being redeveloped for 
residential use, while the application site was kept vacant. The outline 
permission which authorised the residential redevelopment included the 
application site having a retail use.  

 
2.2  The site is within a residential area, with residential properties in each 

direction. Dwellings sit upon the site’s south and west boundaries, with 
dwellings to the northeast and northwest separated from the site by Turnstone 
Way and Blackmoorfoot Road respectively. Several properties near to the site, 
on Blackmoorfoot Road, are Grade 2 Listed.  

  

Page 16



 
2.3  The topography of the area generally slopes downhill from southwest to 

northeast, with the land within the site and neighbouring dwellings following 
this form. Several TPOs are within the site’s boundaries, however many of 
these trees have been felled previously (as part of the site wide re-
development). Two remain, a sycamore roughly north-east of the centre of the 
site and a horse chestnut adjacent to Blackmoorfoot Road. A substation sits 
to the immediately east of the site, fronting onto Turnstone Way. 

  
3.0  PROPOSAL 
 
3.1 Full planning permission is sought for the erection of a foodstore (use class 

E), with associated access, parking, serving, and landscaping.  
 
3.2 The food store building would have a GIA of 2,000sqm, with a sales floor of 

1,331sqm. Other floorspace would be dedicated to storage, refrigeration, and 
staff facilities. The building is expected to facilitate 40 (full time equivalent) 
jobs. The proposed opening hours are: 

 
 Monday to Saturday: 0800 to 2200.  
 Sunday: Sunday trading laws (no specifics given)  

 
The proposed hours of delivery are: 
 

 Monday to Friday: 0700 – 2200 
 Saturday: 0800 – 2200  
 Sunday: 1000 – 1600  

 
3.3 The building would be located within the east of the site, along part of the 

boundary with Turnstone Way. It would be roughly rectangular in shape, and 
be single storey with a mono-pitched roof. Elevations would be faced in a 
mixture of natural stone, metal cladding (grey and white), and render (stone 
coloured). Glazed panels, allowing views into the store, would be sited on the 
northwest elevation and partly on the southwest elevation. Spaces for 
advertisements are also shown on these elevations. The roof would be 
constructed using metal composite panels. A plant and serving area, including 
a vehicle ramp for levelling access, is proposed on the building’s southeast 
elevation.  

 
3.4 Access to the site would be via a new priority T-junction from Turnstone Way. 

The site’s car park would include 93 car parking spaces and two dedicated 
spaces for motorcycles. Five cycle loops would be sited adjacent to the main 
building and two electric vehicle charging points (EVCP) are proposed.  

 
3.5 A cutting exercise is proposed across the site to form a level plateau. This 

necessitates retaining walls throughout the site, but notably adjacent to the 
north, east, and south boundaries. These would be faced in stone and would 
have a maximum height of circa 5m.  

 
3.6 Behind the retaining wall, wrapping around corner adjacent to the 

Blackmoorfoot Road and Turnstone Way junction, would be a landscaped 
buffer zone. This would host ornamental planting and 12 standard trees, with 
two further trees within the car park. All existing trees within the site, including 
the TPO sycamore and horse chestnut would be felled to facilitate the 
development.  Page 17



 
3.7 Surface water attenuation would be located under the car park and discharge 

into the Blackmoorfoot Road combined sewer.  
 
4.0  RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including enforcement history) 
 
4.1 Application Site 
 

2013/90248: Prior notification for demolition of existing buildings – Granted.  
 
2014/93099: Outline application for phased development comprising up to 200 
dwellings with associated infrastructure and open space; retail units (open use 
class A1); accommodation for potential neighbourhood uses (use class 
A2/D1/D2/sui generis); restaurant/public house (use class A3/A4); and petrol 
filling station (sui generis) – Granted. 
 
2016/91337: Removal of conditions 25 (drainage system), 31 (floorspace), 
and Variation of conditions 3 (phasing plan), 6 (Remediation Strategy), 7 
(contamination), 8 (Validation Report), 9 (Construction Environmental 
Management Plan), 10 (Air Quality Impact Assessment), 11 (charging plug), 
15 (acoustic barriers), 18 (bat roost and bird nesting opportunities), 19 (lighting 
scheme), 20 (drainage), 21 (surface water discharge), 22 (storm events), 23 
(drainage), 24 (surface water drainage), 26 (surface water flows), 27 (Surface 
water), 30 (gross floorspace), 35 (construction and layout specification), 36 
(retail site access), 37 (residential site access), 40 (construction vehicles) and 
41 (parking spaces) of previous outline permission 2014/93099 for phased 
development comprising up to 200 dwellings with associated infrastructure 
and open space; retail units (open use class A1); accommodation for potential 
neighbourhood uses (use class A2/D1/D2/sui generis); restaurant/public 
house (use class A3/A4); and petrol filling station (sui generis) – Granted. 
 
2018/93098: Variation of conditions 28, 33, 34 and 35 and removal of 
condition 31 on previous application 2016/91337 – Granted. 
 
2018/93201: Reserved matters application for residential development 
pursuant to outline permission 2018/93098 – Granted 
 
2019/93902: Reserved matters application for residential development 
pursuant to outline permission 2018/93098 for Variation of conditions 28, 33, 
34 and 35 and removal of condition 31 of previous application 2016/91337 – 
Granted. 
 
2019/93307: Discharge of condition 7 (estate roads) of previous reserved 
matters approval 2018/93201 for residential development pursuant to outline 
permission 2018/93098 – Refused. 
 
2021/90694: Discharge of conditions 32a and 32b of previous permission 
2018/93098 for variation of conditions 28, 33, 34 and 35 and removal of 
condition 31 on previous application 2016/91337 – Refused. 
 
Note: Numerous Discharge of Condition applications are not listed due to 
them being deemed not relevant to the current proposal.  

  

Page 18



 
4.2  Surrounding Area 
 

land at, former St Luke's Hospital (land to the west of the site) 
 
2018/93200: Erection of 26 dwellings – Granted. 
 
2019/93950: Erection of 21 dwellings and associated access works – Granted. 

 
4.3  Enforcement History 
 
  COMP/20/0256: Major site monitoring – Ongoing. 
 
  This relates to standard major site monitoring practice, although a notable 

ongoing issue for the site is the road. K.C. Highways have expressed concerns 
over aspects of Turnstone Way’s construction, which is currently preventing 
adoption by the council. Negotiations continue.  

 
COMP/23/0575: Alleged breach of condition 9 (2014/93099) – Ongoing.  
 
This complaint regarded a breach of the Construction Management Plan for 
the adjacent residential development and has no direct relevance to the 
current proposal.  

 
5.0  HISTORY OF NEGOTIATIONS (including revisions to the scheme) 
 
5.1   As originally submitted, the proposal sought for the building to be pushed back 

into the site, close to the west boundary. Officers expressed concerns over the 
design implications of this, as it would not reflect the local urban grain nor 
would it engage with the Blackmoorfoot Road streetscene. The car park would 
have been the most prominent feature. As such, a design review was 
undertaken to consider whether a more suitable location could be identified. 
During these discussions, negotiations took place on whether the mature trees 
covered by TPOs within the site could be retained. It was concluded, to deliver 
the development in a reasonable manner, they could not.  

 
5.2  As a result of the above, the building was relocated to the east boundary. As 

such, the proposal’s plans were updated and re-advertised.  
 
5.3  In addition to the above, negotiations took place on various other technical 

matters, including drainage and highways. On final receipt of updated / further 
information, these issues were concluded to be suitably resolved, subject to 
conditions.  

 
6.0  PLANNING POLICY 
 
6.1  Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 

that planning applications are determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The 
statutory Development Plan for Kirklees is the Local Plan (adopted 
27/02/2019).  

  

Page 19



 
  Kirklees Local Plan (2019) and Supplementary Planning Guidance / 

Documents 
 
6.2 The site is part (8%) of Mixed-Use allocation reference MXS1 on the Local 

Plan Policies Map. The mixed uses identified are housing and retail uses. The 
allocation has an indicative housing capacity of 200 units. No indicative floor 
space for retail is given, although the following is stated: 

 
Mixed use - housing and retail (additional retail and/or leisure beyond 
that already permitted (2014/93099 retail units open use class A1) 
would be subject to policy LP13) 

 
6.3  Relevant Local Plan policies are: 
 

 LP1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
 LP2 – Place shaping  
 LP3 – Location of new development  
 LP7 – Efficient and effective use of land and buildings 
 LP13 – Town centre uses 
 LP19 – Strategic transport infrastructure  
 LP20 – Sustainable travel 
 LP21 – Highways and access 
 LP22 – Parking   
 LP24 – Design 
 LP27 – Flood risk  
 LP28 – Drainage  
 LP30 – Biodiversity and geodiversity 
 LP32 – Landscape 
 LP33 – Trees  
 LP35 – Historic environment  
 LP38 – Minerals safeguarding  
 LP51 – Protection and improvement of local air quality  
 LP52 – Protection and improvement of environmental quality 
 LP53 – Contaminated and unstable land  
 LP67 – Mixed use allocations 

 
6.4  The following are relevant Supplementary Planning Documents or other 

guidance documents published by, or with, Kirklees Council; 
 
  Supplementary Planning Documents 
 

 Highway Design Guide SPD (2019) 
 
  Guidance documents 
 

 Biodiversity Net Gain Technical Advice Note (2021) 
 Planning Applications Climate Change Guidance (2021) 
 West Yorkshire Low Emissions Strategy and Air Quality and 

Emissions Technical Planning Guidance (2016) 
 Waste Management Design Guide for New Developments (2020) 
 Green Streets Principles for the West Yorkshire Transport Fund 

 

Page 20



  National Planning Guidance 
 
6.5  National planning policy and guidance is set out in National Policy Statements, 

primarily the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024 and the 
Planning Practice Guidance Suite (PPGS), first launched March 2014, 
together with Circulars, Ministerial Statements and associated technical 
guidance. The NPPF constitutes guidance for local planning authorities and is 
a material consideration in determining applications. 

 
 Chapter 2 – Achieving sustainable development 
 Chapter 4 – Decision-making  
 Chapter 7 – Ensuring the vitality of town centres 
 Chapter 9 – Promoting sustainable transport  
 Chapter 11 – Making effective use of land 
 Chapter 12 – Achieving well-designed places 
 Chapter 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and 

coastal change  
 Chapter 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment  
 Chapter 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment  

 
6.6  Other relevant national guidance and documents: 
 

 MHCLG: National Design Guide (2021) 
 
  Climate change  
 
6.7   The Council approved Climate Emergency measures at its meeting of full 

Council on 16/01/2019, and the West Yorkshire Combined Authority has 
pledged that the Leeds City Region would reach net zero carbon emissions 
by 2038. A draft Carbon Emission Reduction Pathways Technical Report (July 
2020, Element Energy), setting out how carbon reductions might be achieved, 
has been published by the West Yorkshire Combined Authority. 

 
6.8  On 12/11/2019 the council adopted a target for achieving ‘net zero’ carbon 

emissions by 2038, with an accompanying carbon budget set by the Tyndall 
Centre for Climate Change Research. National Planning Policy includes a 
requirement to promote carbon reduction and enhance resilience to climate 
change through the planning system, and these principles have been 
incorporated into the formulation of Local Plan policies. The Local Plan 
predates the declaration of a climate emergency and the net zero carbon 
target; however, it includes a series of policies which are used to assess the 
suitability of planning applications in the context of climate change. When 
determining planning applications, the council would use the relevant Local 
Plan policies and guidance documents to embed the climate change agenda. 

 
7.0  PUBLIC/LOCAL RESPONSE 
 
  The applicant’s statement of community involvement 
 

7.1  The application is supported by a Statement of Community Involvement which 
details the applicant’s engagement with local residents prior to the submission 
of their planning application. The applicant’s means of engagement included 
leaflets being issued to circa 10,000 dwellings in the vicinity of the site, and 
ward councillors being notified. A dedicated webpage was also set up with 
details of the proposal.  Page 21



 
7.2  In response to the engagement undertaken, 968 responses were received 

split between the website (468, equivalent to 48%) and the leaflet (500, 
equivalent to 52%). Of these, the applicant states that 85.6% of respondents 
were in favour of the proposal, 10.2% against, and 4.1% unsure.  

 
7.3  The concerns that were raised included: 
 

 the principle of development of a foodstore in this location 
 traffic and highways issues 
 pedestrian access 
 arboriculture and landscaping 

 
  The applicant considers each of the above points in their Statement of 

Community involvement. In summary, they are satisfied that their proposal, 
supported by documents such as a Transport Statements and Ecological 
Impact Assessment, would suitably address and overcome the concerns 
raised during their pre-application public engagement.  

 
  Public representations to the planning application 
 
7.4  The application has been advertised as a major development via site notices 

and through neighbour letters to properties bordering the site, along with being 
advertised within a local newspaper. This is in line with the council’s adopted 
Statement of Community Involvement.  

 
7.5  The application was amended during its lifetime and a period of re-

consultation, via neighbour letters, was undertaken. These were sent to all 
neighbouring residents, as well as to those who provided comments to the 
original period of representation.  

 
7.6  The end date for public comments is 28/01/2025, prior to the committee 

meeting but after this report is due to be published. This is the end of an 
additional public representation period, with several publicity periods having 
taken place due to various amendments / further details being provided during 
the course of the application’s life. The amendments pursuant to the final 
period of publicity principally relate to the procedural matter of land ownership, 
following the applicant’s red-line boundary being extended to Blackmoorfoot 
Road (the nearest adopted road). A summary of any additional comments 
received after the date of this report shall be included within the committee 
update. 

 
7.7  In total, at the time of writing, 44 public comments have been received to date. 

This includes a mixture of letters in support and also in objection to the 
proposal. The objections include a petition with circa 160 signatures on it. The 
petition cites concerns over traffic generation in the area and harm to nearby 
businesses. The following is a summary of the comments made received to 
date: 

 
Support  
 

 General support for a food supermarket in this location. It will help 
local residents not travel so far to collect food, and improve the local 
offer of shop variety.  

 Page 22



Sequential and Retail impact 
 

 The proposed development would prejudice the development of other 
new retail units, including via app 2018/92647 (former Kirklees 
College, New North Road), at a sequentially preferable site, and 
2023/90076 (Leeds Road Retail Park), potentially preventing them 
coming forward.  

 The site subject to 2018/92647 should be seen as sequentially 
preferable, being edge of centre, until such a time that the store is 
operational. This should be considered by the applicant. There would 
be a 7-min catchment area shared between the proposed site and the 
former Kirklees College, New North Road site. When 2023/90076 was 
considered, the sequential test undertaken at that time used a 7-min 
catchment area, which is not being utilised by the applicant. The 
assessments should be consistent.  

 By approving the proposal, the redevelopment of the Kirklees College, 
New North Road site is put at jeopardy via harming investor 
confidence. This site is edge of centre and its re-development is 
important within the Local Plan. There should be some form of 
mechanism that requires the 2018/92647 / Kirklees College, New 
North Road proposal to be developed, prior to the application site. 

 
Highways 
 

 Concerns over the local highway network’s capacity to accommodate 
additional traffic. 

 Concerns over pre-existing excessive vehicle parking on Turnstone 
Way, which includes residents from neighbouring street, making 
access to properties on Turnstone Way difficult. Turnstone Way 
should have double yellow lines and a crossing point near the junction 
to Blackmoorfoot Road.  

 Access should be taken from Blackmoorfoot Road, which was 
previously the case for the former hospital.  

 The Turnstone Way / Blackmoorfoot Road junction needs to be 
improved to facilitate the development. A roundabout or dedicated 
right turn lane off Blackmoorfoot Road are suggested. If traffic lights 
are to be used, consideration must be given to properties adjacent to 
where the lights would be sited, and where they’d park 

 Traffic surveys for the proposal were undertaken during a COVID-19 
lockdown and therefore are not representative. Furthermore, it fails to 
take into account other local developments, including the Black Cat 
proposal (for 770 units). It also does not identify all of the recent Road 
Traffic Accidents (including a fatal incident) nor consider non-reported 
incidents.  

 The proposal should introduce traffic calming on Blackmoorfoot Road, 
which is a known speeding zone.  

 
Amenity 
 

 The proposal will result in harmful noise pollution. The site should 
include noise mitigation barriers.  

 The proposal will lead to an increase in vermin within the area.  
 The proposal will cause harmful odour pollution.  
 Dust during construction must be considered and managed.  

Page 23



 Deliveries to the site should be during the day only, or else they’d 
disrupt local residents who are near to the service area.  

 The proposal will cause overshadowing of nearby dwellings.  
 Adverts and other lights on the site should be dimmed at night to not 

cause light pollution.  
 
Design 
 

 The building is unattractive and not fitting into the character of the 
area.  

 The building should be constructed in local, natural materials.  
 Additional trees should be planted to soften the appearance of the 

building a support local ecology.  
 
Other  
 

 The land should be used for homes for the elderly.  
 The proposal will take business from local shops, leading to a decline 

in local shopping options.  
 The proposal will introduce competition into the local market.  
 The car park will attract anti-social behaviour when the store is closed.  
 The drainage must prevent flooding onto Turnstone Way and nearby 

dwellings.  
 

7.8  The site is within Crosland Moor and Netherton ward, where members are: 
 

 Cllr Jo Lawson 
 Cllr Imran Safdar 
 Cllr Alex Vickers 

 
7.9  Cllr Lawson expressed the following concerns during the course of the 

application: 
 

 Concerns over the impact upon the local highway, including traffic 
generation and the junction between Turnstone Way and 
Blackmoorfoot Road.  

 Raising concerns over potential site security and making sure the site 
does not attract anti-social behaviour.  

 Question on whether any Section 106 money could be spent providing 
barriers to local paths.  

 
8.0  CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

 
K.C. Ecology: No objection subject to conditions and a Section 106 agreement 
to secure a contribution of £37,030 towards securing a 10% net gain.  
 
K.C. Environmental Health: Have considered various potential sources of 
pollution, including ground conditions, noise, light and odour. While initial 
concerns were held, based on amended proposals and further details, no 
objection subject to conditions.  
 
K.C. Highways (Waste): No objection. 
 

Page 24



K.C. Highways (Development Management): Sought further details / 
amendments relating to traffic generation, internal layout, and internal 
manoeuvres. Further details have been provided and found to be acceptable. 
No objection subject to conditions.  
 
K.C. Lead Local Flood Authority: Expressed initial concerns over aspects of 
the drainage design. Following further details and negotiations, confirmed that 
the submission adequately makes spaces for water and that they have no 
objection, subject to amendments and additional information being provided 
via discharge of condition.  
 
K.C. Trees: Object due to the proposal’s loss of protected trees on site.  
 
West Yorkshire Police Designing Out Crime Officer: Initially raised various 
questions on crime management and offered advice. Following amendments 
Crime Prevention acknowledged the improvements and offered no further 
comments, subject to conditions being imposed. 

 
9.0  MAIN ISSUES 

 
 Principle of development 
 Urban design  
 Residential amenity 
 Highways 
 Drainage and flood risk 
 Planning obligations 
 Other matters 
 Representations 

 
10.0  APPRAISAL 
 
  Principle of development 
 
10.1  Paragraph 47 of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework), 

which is a material consideration in planning decisions, confirms that planning 
law requires applications for planning permission to be determined in 
accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. This approach is confirmed within Policy LP1 of the 
Kirklees Local Plan, which states that when considering development 
proposals, the Council would take a positive approach that reflects the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development contained within the 
Framework. Policy LP1 also clarifies that proposals that accord with the 
policies in the Kirklees Local Plan would be approved without delay, unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 
 Development of a Mixed-Use allocation  
 
10.2 The site is part of Mixed-Use allocation ref. MXS1. Policy LP67 governs the 

assessment of Mixed-Use allocations, stating:  
 

  The sites listed below are allocated for mixed use development in the 
Local Plan. Planning permission will be expected to be granted if 
proposals accord with the development principles set out in the 
relevant site boxes, relevant development plan policies and as shown 
on the Policies Map. Page 25



 
Allocation MXS1 is allocated for residential and retail uses. The allocation sets 
out an indicative capacity of 200 dwellings. The allocation does not set an 
indicative capacity for retail floor space, stating:  
 
  (additional retail and/or leisure beyond that already permitted 

(2014/93099 retail units open use class A1) would be subject to policy 
LP13) 

 
10.3 Application 2014/93099 approved 5,388sqm of retail space under use class 

A1, with the current proposal now seeking 2,000sqm. As of the September 
2020 amendment to The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 
1987, use class A1 has been subsumed by use class E.   

 
10.4 The indicative housing delivery for the allocation has been achieved, via the 

following applications: 
 

 2014/93099: Outline permission for up to 200 units.  
 2019/93902: Reserved Matters pursuant to 2014/93099 for 195 units 
 2018/93200: Erection of 26 dwellings and 2019/93950 for full 

permission for 21 units (2019/93950 granted permission for a replan 
of part of 2018/93200’s site, providing 21 dwellings which effectively 
resulted in a scheme of 31 dwellings on the site of the existing 
approval. 

 
10.5 The above applications total 226 units, over the indicative capacity of 200 

units, and each has commenced (and been largely completed). Therefore, 
officers are satisfied that the intended residential function of the site has been 
achieved.  

 
10.6 Since 2014/93099, no other application for retail within the site has come 

forward. The proposal would develop all remaining space within the allocation, 
prohibiting any additional retail use coming forward. Application 2014/93099 
approved 5,388sqm of retail space, across a larger area than the application 
site, while the current proposal seeks only a single unit of 2,000sqm 
(1,331sqm retail floor space). While of a lower floorspace, the proposals for 
2014/93099 are accepted to have been speculative and are noted as having 
not come forward in a not-insufficient period of time, an indicator of market 
conditions. Furthermore, from a design perspective, officers consider it would 
be difficult to accommodate a greater floor space (without multiples storeys, 
which is typically undesirable for retail units) within the remaining land, without 
an unacceptable loss of parking spaces.  

 
10.7 Overall, notwithstanding the historic permission 2014/93099, officers are 

satisfied that the proposed retail development would represent an effective 
and efficient use of the allocation, in principle. This is subject to assessment 
of the development’s specific impacts, not least having due regard to the retail 
sequential test.   

 
 Town centre use: sequential test 
 
10.8 The proposal includes a main town centre use that would not be within a 

defined town centre, as designated by the Local Plan. Therefore, a retail 
sequential test and impact assessment (as the proposed floorspace would be 
above 500sqm) are required to demonstrate compliance with policy LP13. The Page 26



purpose of policy LP13 is to protect the vitality and viability of town centres 
through the reasonable concentration of economic activity. Consideration 
shall first be given to the sequential test, followed by the impact assessment 
(see paragraph 10.16 onwards).  

 
10.9 The sequential test seeks to establish whether the proposed development 

could be reasonably accommodated at a sequentially preferable alternative 
location. The following locational preferences are applied for main town centre 
uses:  

 
1. sites located in town centre locations  
2. sites on edge of centre locations  
3. well-connected out of centre sites  
4. out of centre sites  

 
 Local Plan paragraph 9.12 provides further guidance on the scope of the 

sequential test and that applicants will be expected to provide details of the 
business model for the development, an appropriate catchment that the 
business would seek to serve and an appropriate audit trail of any sequentially 
preferable sites that have been discounted with a robust justification.  

 

10.10 The applicant has provided a Sequential & Impact Assessment Report which 
has been reviewed by a council appointed independent assessor (Nexus 
Planning). It should be noted that these documents specifically related to an 
earlier revision of the proposal, which was marginally smaller than the scheme 
was eventually amended to be (an increase of 79 sqm sales area and 90sqm 
total). Officers have considered the report in the context of the changes made 
to the proposal and are satisfied that the methodology and findings are not 
materially affected by the amendments, which are considered nominal in the 
scope of the reports.  

 

10.11 In terms of business model, the proposed store would be a Lidl. Lidl stores 
primarily seek to serve the immediate local community in which they are 
located, both in terms of their shopping function and also in terms of 
employment (with circa 40 full time equivariant jobs expected). They fill a 
‘middle’ role between smaller top up stores and superstores, with a Lidl store 
stocking circa 3,000 – 4,000 products, compared to a superstore having 
20,000+. Subject to seasonal variation, Lidl stores dedicate around 20% of 
floorspace to the sale of ‘comparison’ goods (non-food) items, with the 
remaining floorspace being used for the sale of ‘convenience’ goods. Unlike 
other foodstore operators, they do not include in-store concessions or other 
ancillary facilities such as opticians, dry cleaners, bureaux de change, or 
cafes, which also helps to limit their impact upon existing town centres. 

 

10.12 Considering what forms a suitable search area, the council’s Retail Capacity 
Study Update (2016) document splits Kirklees into seven district zones. The 
applicant states: 

 

  Given the location of the subject site, the likelihood that the proposed 
new retail floorspace would draw the majority of its trade from the south-
western side of Huddersfield, and the relatively limited range of retail 
provision serving this area, Zone 1 has been defined as the Primary 
Catchment Area (PCA) for the purposes of this assessment. Within this 
PCA, a fiveminute drive-time isochrone from the application site has also 
been identified. This area represents the Core Catchment Area of the 
proposed new Lidl store and has informed the approach taken to 
addressing the sequential approach to site selection and impact test. 

Page 27



 
 Officers concur with this assessment and consider Zone 1 (Huddersfield 

Central) to be a reasonable search area, having due regard to the above and 
the business model. Based on this and the extent of a five-minute drivetime 
the following defined centres have been considered:  

 
 Berry Brow local centre. 
 Blackmoorfoot Road local centre; 
 Crosland Moor local centre; 
 Huddersfield local centre; 
 Lockwood local centre; 
 Manchester Road/Longroyd Lane local centre; 
 Manchester Road/Mount Street local centre;  
 Milnsbridge district centre; 
 Milnsbridge local centre;  
 Newsome local centre; 
 Paddock Foot local centre,  
 Paddock local centre; and 
 Thornton Lodge, Huddersfield local centre. 

 
 Officers accept that there are no other centres that should be considered. As 

to what sites within the identified centres could be suitable for the proposed 
development, and sequentially preferable, the following criteria have been 
provided:  
 

 Accommodate a store between 1,672sqm and 2,461sqm (gross). Any 
pre-existing vacant unit would need to be circa 90% of the size of the 
store proposed;  

 Whether the site lies within, or on the edge of, an existing centre;  
 Whether there are any development plan policies of relevance to a 

site’s potential redevelopment;  
 Whether the site allows safe access and manoeuvring by customer 

vehicles; 
 Whether the site could accommodate adjacent surface level car 

parking;  
 Whether the site can accommodate an appropriate servicing 

arrangement; 
 The ability to accommodate a single-storey store which benefits from 

generally level topography;  
 Whether there are any extant permissions for other uses on the 

sequential alternative site;  
 Whether there are any land assembly issues that could constrain 

future development;  
 What the current land use is at the alternative site and whether there 

is a requirement for this to be relocated;  
 Whether the site is commercially attractive to operators; and  
 Other potential constraints, such as conservation area and listed 

building designations, tree preservation orders, topography, and so 
on. 

  

Page 28



 
10.13 The applicant contends that alternative sites should be at least 0.6ha in size, 

however, officers are of the view that broadly similar developments have been 
brought forward on slightly smaller sites. Therefore, potential alternative sites 
of at least 0.5ha have be considered when applying the sequential test.  

 
10.14 Within the identified centres, within the identified search area, and utilising the 

above criteria, the applicant has identified eight potential alternative sites. 
These are considered, and for their own reasons discounted, as follows:   
 
Land Between Market Street and Dowker Street, Milnsbridge 
 
The site comprises of 0.5 ha, is constrained by an irregular shape and 
highways which bound the site are relatively narrow. It does not have access 
from, or have visibility to, Market Street. 
 
It is accepted that the site is not suitable to accommodate the proposal. 
 
50 Market Street, Milnsbridge  
 
Existing footprint is around 120sqm therefore not suitable for the proposal.  
 
Former Car Wash Site, Market Street, Milnsbridge  
 
The site is 0.1 ha in size therefore not suitable for the proposal.  
 
Land at Hart Street, Newsome  
 
The site is approx. 0.6 ha in size; however, it is at the edge of the area of 
search and unlikely to cater for the same broad market opportunity. It is subject 
to residential planning permission, there is no evidence that the site is 
available, and it is not suitable given its location in relation to the catchment.  
 
Since the test was done, a residential development has been commenced on 
site.  
 
Newsome Mills, Newsome  
 
The site is a local plan residential allocation and located on the periphery of 
the search area, it is not suitable for meeting the needs of the catchment. 
 
Former Shine on Car Wash, Lockwood  
 
The site is 0.1 ha in size therefore not suitable for the proposal.  
 
Site North of Longroyd Lane, Manchester Road  
 
The site is 0.6ha. However, the site is to act as a compound to assist in the 
delivery of the Transpennine Route Upgrade. The site is not considered to be 
available and it is unlikely to be available for some time. 
 
Paddock Civic Youth Centre 
 
The site is 0.3ha therefore not suitable for the proposal. 

 
Page 29



10.15 Officers are satisfied that none of the sites above could be considered both 
available and suitable to accommodate the proposed development, giving due 
regard to the search criteria, even allowing for appropriate flexibility in format 
and scale. Therefore, officers are satisfied that there is currently no 
sequentially preferable location, within a reasonable search area and which 
could suitably support the specifics of the proposal. Therefore, the application 
proposal accords with the requirements of the sequential test set out in policy 
LP13 of the Local Plan.  

 
 Town centre use: retail impact assessment 
 
10.16 Policy LP13 also requires a Retail Impact Assessment for planning 

applications which include retail development that are not located within a 
defined centre, and where the development creates a floorspace greater than 
500 sqm gross. The applicant’s submissions for these tests have likewise 
been reviewed by an independent consultant on behalf of the LPA, followed 
by a review by K.C. Planning (Policy) Officers, following receipt of further 
information. Matters to consider include whether the proposal would prejudice 
nearby town centre investment, nor harm the viability and vitality of the 
centres.  

 
10.17 First considering town centre investment, the applicant’s Planning and Retail 

Statement (para 8.3) states that the proposed development would not have 
any adverse impact on the ability to bring forward investment at Crosland Moor 
local centre or any other existing centre.  

 
10.18 The applicant’s submission notes that there are no sequentially preferable 

sites that are suitable and available, the proposed foodstore is a different scale 
to most development/redevelopment opportunities within centres in the area, 
there is no other planned investment in any of the centres in south-west 
Huddersfield that could affected by the proposal. The cultural facilities and 
public spaces being progressed in Huddersfield Town Centre are 
fundamentally different to the proposal and any other schemes in more distant 
centres would serve different catchments.  

 
10.19 In addition to the above, a discount foodstore (operated by Lidl) forms part of 

the proposed redevelopment of the former Kirklees College site within the 
Huddersfield Town Centre boundary. The former college site is 2.5km from 
the application site and it is considered that they will serve substantially 
different catchment areas. Lidl has formally been identified as the future 
operator for both sites. It is considered that the granting of planning permission 
for the Crosland Moor proposal would not have a prejudicial impact on the 
redevelopment of the former Kirklees College site.  

 
10.20 The proposal complies with the first part of the impact test as it is considered 

that there is no town centre investment that would be prejudiced by the 
proposal. 

 
10.21 Progressing to the proposals’ impact on town centre vitality and viability, the 

applicant sets out its approach to trade diversion impact within Sections 6, 8 
and appendix 2 of its Planning and Retail Statement and within their updated 
Retail Assessment summary.  

  

Page 30



 
10.22 The assumptions presented including the updated information requested by 

the council’s independent assessor have been reviewed and are satisfactory. 
It is accepted at the outset that comparison goods floorspace associated with 
the application is limited (248sqm) and that in practice this element of the 
proposal would trade against a wide range of destinations. The viability of 
existing retailers would therefore not be materially affected by this floorspace.  

 
10.23 The highest proportion of trade will be diverted from Aldi in Milnsbridge District 

Centre (£1.27m, or 13.7% of the proposal’s turnover). It is not considered that 
the expected cumulative impact would have a significant adverse impact on 
the future performance of the Aldi store and the wider district centre.  

 
10.24 In regard to Crosland Moor local centre, and particularly the Co-op, it is 

considered that the store is probably performing strongly against its 
benchmark average given its likely catchment with limited direct competition 
nearby. Therefore, it is considered that the store would continue to trade well 
following assumed cumulative trade diversion levels and that the impact on 
the store would not be at a level which is significantly adverse. The wider 
implications of the diversion on Crosland Moor local centre as a whole have 
been considered and it is not at a level which would have any material impact 
on its future trading performance.  

 
10.25 It is considered that the potential cumulative impact of the proposal when 

considered alongside other commitments would not materially impact on the 
performance of any other defined centres.  

 
10.26 The proposal would not have a significant adverse impact on the vitality and 

viability of any defined centre, particularly Milnsbridge District Centre and 
Crosland Moor Local Centre from which Lichfield estimate the highest 
cumulative diversion would occur.  

 
10.27 Following the above assessment having been made, a representation was 

received from a national competitor, raising an objection to the proposal. It 
raised several concerns over the sequential test and retail impact assessment 
undertaken by the applicant. The following is a summary of the concerns 
raised, and the applicant’s response.  

 
 The proposed development would prejudice the development of other 

new retail units, including via app 2018/92647 (former Kirklees 
College, New North Road), at a sequentially preferable site, and 
2023/90076 (Leeds Road Retail Park), potentially preventing them 
coming forward.  

 
Applicant response: The [objector] argues that there would be overlapping 
catchment areas between the proposed store on the former St Lukes Hospital 
site and that previously approved on the former Kirklees College site. This is 
on the basis of their view that these stores serve catchment areas which 
comprise a seven-minute drive-time from each site, an approach which was 
taken in respect of the approved foodstore at Leeds Road Retail Park (ref. 
2023/62/90076/W). This approach resulted in sites within Huddersfield Town 
Centre (which incorporates the former College site) being considered as part 
of the assessment of sequentially preferable sites.  
 

Page 31



Lidl do not currently have an interest in the Leeds Road Retail Park scheme. 
In any event, however, based on a review of the Planning and Retail 
Statement which accompanied this application, the use of a seven-minute 
drive-time to define the catchment area was taken at the request of Council 
Officers, and no evidence has been provided by to substantiate this approach.  
 
The above statement also confirms (at paragraph 6.13) that catchment areas 
for this type of operator (i.e. discount food retail) are usually defined using a 
five-minute drive-time. This is reflected in Lidl’s own approach to defining 
catchment areas which, for urban areas such as this - including where there 
are other existing or committed/proposed Lidl stores – is to use a five-minute 
drive-time as a starting point.  
 
The comments in the letter ignore the fact that the Core Catchment Area 
(CCA) was defined for the proposed new store on the St Lukes site on this 
basis – and that this approach was agreed through discussions with Council 
Officers and their appointed retail planning consultants. They also ignore the 
fact that, as set out in the Planning and Retail Statement, the CCA reflects the 
extent to which the new store here would serve residents living on the south-
western side of Huddersfield, focused upon the Crosland Moor area.  
 
This is, in turn, reflected in the fact that the site is allocated for mixed-used 
development, including retail, in the adopted Kirklees Development Plan, 
under Policy LP67 (site. ref. MXS1), and indeed was subject to a previous 
outline planning permission which included around 3,900 sqm (42,000 sqft) 
gross new retail development. The potential for new floorspace on the site 
which serves the surrounding areas on this side of Huddersfield has already 
been recognised by the Council who, in granting permission for the previous 
scheme, accepted that the sequential test had been satisfied.  
 
In practice, the new Lidl store coming forward on the former college site would 
serve a different – and complementary - catchment area to that on the St 
Lukes site. A such, and as neither the college site nor the wider Huddersfield 
Town Centre fall within the CCA for the St Lukes site, it cannot be considered 
suitable for the current application proposals. 

 

 The site subject to 2018/92647 should be seen as sequentially 
preferable, being edge of centre, until such a time that the store is 
operational. This should be considered by the applicant. There would 
be a 7-min catchment area shared between the proposed site and the 
former Kirklees College, New North Road site. When 2023/90076 was 
considered, the sequential test undertaken at that time used a 7-min 
catchment area, which is not being utilised by the applicant. The 
assessments should be consistent.  

 

Applicant’s response: [The objection contends] that the former College site 
must be considered as a sequentially preferable site until such time that the 
foodstore is operational. However, it has already been confirmed that Lidl is 
the intended operator in this site, and indeed a Section 73 (variation of 
condition) application has recently been submitted and validated for various 
amendments to the scheme required in order to facilitate their occupation of 
the new store. Furthermore, and as set out in the attached letter from Lidl 
themselves, they will be looking to start on site and bring a new store to Trinity 
Street in Huddersfield once this application has been approved. This letter 
also confirms this applies regardless of the outcome of the St Lukes 
application.  Page 32



 
It is contended by that the former college site must be considered as a 
sequentially preferable site until such time that the foodstore approved there 
is operational. However, Lidl’s position – as clearly set out in their separate 
letter – is that not only that they will be occupying this foodstore, but that it will 
serve a different (and complementary catchment area to that on the St Lukes 
site). Whether the store is operational or not yet is therefore not relevant.  
 
In the context of the above, given the different catchment areas served, and 
the fact that the new foodstore on the former college site is intended to be built 
and occupied well in advance of any store approved on the former St Lukes 
site, the latter is neither suitable nor available for the new Lidl store proposed 
on the latter site. 

 
 By approving the proposal, the re-development of the Kirklees 

College, New North Road site is put at jeopardy via harming investor 
confidence. This site is edge of centre and its redevelopment is 
important within the Local Plan. There should be some form of 
mechanism that requires the 2018/92647 / Kirklees College, New 
North Road proposal to be developed, prior to the application site. 

 
Applicant response: The [objector] argues that the assessment undertaken 
as part of the proposal on the St Lukes site does not account for the impacts 
that the development of an out-of-centre foodstore would have on Pg 3/4 
32470955v1 securing a foodstore at the former College site. It also contends 
that the current application may undermine investor confidence, affecting the 
potential to deliver investment, and having an unacceptably significant impact 
upon the town centre, on the basis that there is no confirmation that Lidl will 
be developing a store on the former college site.  
 
However, the letter actually acknowledges that the store on the former college 
site was promoted as a replacement for the existing Lidl store on Castlegate. 
Lidl have confirmed in the attached letter that they are the operator of this 
store, and that the store is intended to commence construction following 
approval of the recently submitted/validated Section 73 application. Clearly, 
Lidl would not be progressing with an application for amendments to the 
approved scheme if they had no intention of occupying it.  
 
There are, therefore, no grounds for any concern in relation to whether this 
store will be implemented, or indeed in relation to the potential impact upon 
investment in the town centre or the wider development plan strategy.  
 
For the same reasons, and given the different catchment areas which the two 
stores would serve, there are no grounds for the imposition of any mechanism 
to ensure that the approved store on the former college site comes forward 
prior to construction of any store approved at Blackmoorfoot. Any such 
planning condition would not be necessary for the granting of planning 
permission, nor would it be reasonable. 

 
10.28 Officers note the objections raised within the representation. Nevertheless, 

officers concur with the rebuttal offered by the applicant and maintain that the 
applicant has demonstrated compliance with policy LP13.  

  

Page 33



 
10.29 Both the sequential test and retail impact assessment are based on the details 

provided with the application. To ensure no unassessed and/or greater impact 
may occurs, a condition to control aspects of the proposal, to align with the 
details provided and assessed, is required. This should include the following 
restrictions: 

 
a)  The unit shall have no more than 1,382sqm of net internal sales 

floorspace and no more than 2,000 sqm of gross internal floorspace;  
 

b)  The unit is restricted to the sale of convenience goods and 
comparison goods. The quantum of net internal sales floorspace 
dedicated to comparison goods shall be no more than 248sqm with 
the remaining net internal sales floorspace dedicated to convenience 
goods; and 

 
c)  The unit shall not be sub-divided without prior approval of the Local 

Planning Authority 
 
10.30 In summary, the applicant has demonstrated compliance with Policy LP13. 

Giving due regard to the specifics of the proposed development, the applicant 
has demonstrated that there are no sequentially preferable locations which 
could accommodate the proposal. Furthermore, the proposed development 
on this site would neither harm the investment within, or viability / vitality of, 
nearby local centres. This is subject to a condition controlling the above 
matters being imposed.  

 
Sustainable development  

 
10.31 As set out at paragraph 7 of the NPPF, the purpose of the planning system is 

to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. The NPPF goes 
on to provide commentary on the environmental, social and economic aspects 
of sustainable development, all of which are relevant to planning decisions 

 
10.32  This application is supported by a document titled ‘Energy usage and 

Sustainability Statement’. This report identifies that the building would have 
the following design features: 

 
  Incorporate passive design strategies to take advantage of:  
 

 Natural daylighting through careful building and glazing orientation. 
This will offer a reduced dependency on electric lighting through the 
contribution of natural lighting to achieve the required Lux levels.  

 
 Enhanced fabric efficiencies and thermal mass have been allowed for 

to help stabilise any temperature fluctuations within the building 
reducing heat gains and/or losses. 

 
Incorporate active design strategies to reduce energy consumption by:  

 
 Introduce heat recovery ventilation to pre-heat incoming fresh air. This 

will reduce the energy loads associated with fresh air heat loss/gains.  
 

Page 34



 Introduce separate sub-metering to allow for all energy consumed to 
be monitored and any discrepancies easily identified and fixed thus 
minimising wasted energy.  

 
 Low energy lighting will be installed with suitable controls to ensure 

lights are not left on unnecessarily. Suitable controls will eliminate 
human error.  

 
 Building energy management system (BEMS) will be designed and 

installed to manage all systems effectively, ensuring their efficiencies 
are maintained and achieved. 

 
10.33  In addition to the above, the report identifies that both air source heat pumps 

or solar panels are ‘viable and advisable’ at the site, although no specifics are 
provided within the submission. To promote climate resilience, a condition 
requiring details of such provision is recommended.  

 
10.34 Regarding climate change, measures would be necessary to encourage the 

use of sustainable modes of transport. Adequate provision for cyclists 
(including cycle storage and space for cyclists), electric vehicle charging 
points, and other measures have been proposed or would be secured by 
condition (referenced where relevant within this assessment). A development 
at this site which was entirely reliant on residents travelling by private car is 
unlikely to be considered sustainable. Drainage and flood risk minimisation 
measures would need to account for climate change. These factors will be 
considered where relevant within this assessment.  

 
  Urban Design  
 
10.35  Chapters 11 and 12 of the NPPF, and Local Plan policies LP2, LP7 and LP24 

are relevant to the proposed development in relation to design, as is the 
National Design Guide. 

 
10.36  The site lies with a predominantly residential area. Dwellings fronting onto 

Blackmoorfoot Road are mostly traditional stone terraced properties (several 
of which are listed, to be considered further in paragraphs 10.52 – 10.58). On 
streets branching from Blackmoorfoot Road the character of properties is 
more varied. Stone terraces are still common, however more contemporary 
detached and semi-detached properties are also present, with the most 
modern example being the new residential development on the remainder of 
the former St Luke’s site, immediately to the south of the application site. 
However, other forms of development which break up the residential make-
up, including commercial properties, apartment buildings, and a school, are 
evident from Blackmoorfoot Road as well as on the nearby branching streets.  

 
10.37  The proposal would introduce a new contemporary food-store, with parking 

and landscaping, to the site. While it would evidently not replicate the 
predominantly residential properties nearby, subject to having a suitable 
design, this would not be a fundamental concern. It is not unusual for small- / 
medium-sized commercial or retail properties to be seen alongside residential 
development, and this forms a characteristic of the wider area. Examples 
include those referenced above, the nearby Crossland Moor retail complex 
(including a Co-op store), and the site’s former hospital building.  

 

Page 35



10.38  The location of the building within the site has been deliberated between 
officers and the applicant. Part of this exercise was to consider whether the 
mature trees within the site, which are protected by Tree Preservation Orders 
(TPO), could be retained. Initially the store was proposed to be set back into 
the site, with the car parking to the front. This was not supported by officers, 
as the building would not relate to the surrounding environment and would 
result in a large, visually unattractive and unengaging car park being the most 
prominent element of the proposal, therefore not integrating well into the urban 
environment. Consideration was given to having the store fronting directly onto 
Blackmoorfoot Road, to give that thoroughfare an appropriate degree of 
enclosure, and to reflect the high density and tightknit existing urban grain, 
with all other buildings in the vicinity being close spaced to the road. However, 
this was discounted by the applicant due to operational issues, with the 
necessary shape / footprint of the building not appropriately fitting into the 
available space, with draft plans provided to show this. Furthermore, this 
layout would still necessitate the removal of both TPO trees. Officers accepted 
the issues with this layout and concluded that the now proposed location was 
the most practical and suitable, balancing the constraints of the site, the 
applicant’s operational needs, and matters of design. The current layout 
allows the building to integrate into the established urban environment, having 
an active and attractive frontage facing towards Blackmoorfoot Road (albeit 
set back). 

  
10.39  In terms of size, the building is proportional to the site and would not appear 

cramped. It would have appropriate separation from neighbouring buildings. 
While larger than the residential properties nearby, it would not be 
incongruously large and would replicate typical urban residential / commercial 
relationships. For height, it would be single storey with a mono-pitched roof. 
The lower eaves would face into the public realm, reducing its evident 
massing. The size and height of the building is considered acceptable.  

 
10.40  In terms of the design and architectural appearance of the building, that 

proposed is typical of contemporary retail stores. The frontage, which would 
face towards Blackmoorfoot Road, would be largely glazed with natural stone 
as a secondary material. The glazing would be an attractive feature, allowing 
for active views into the building, and would actively engage well with the 
streetscene, while the natural stone would reflect the predominant material. 
Natural stone and stone coloured render are proposed on part of the northeast 
elevation, where it would be most visible on an east approach from 
Blackmoorfoot Road, therefore helping it fit into the character of the area, 
otherwise the building would be glad in a mixture of white and grey cladding 
panels. The roof would be metal composite. While these materials are not 
typical in the area, they would be situated on secondary elevations that would 
not be prominently visible from outside of the site and, on balance, are 
considered appropriate in the setting. Subject to the abovementioned use of 
natural stone on key elevations, and the submission of suitably high-quality 
end-products, each of which may be secured via condition, officers consider 
the design and appearance of the buildings to be acceptable.  

 
10.41  Excavation across the site to form a level development plateau is proposed. 

This would result in retaining walls of varied heights along the site’s north, 
south, and west boundaries. The tallest would be circa 5m in height, along the 
west boundary. The walls would be faced in stone. In terms of impact, the walls 
would not be overly prominent when viewed from outside of the site, because 
the existing adjacent land levels would mask their prominence. Furthermore, 

Page 36



the walls closest and most visible to Blackmoorfoot Road would be the lowest. 
The taller retaining walls, on the west boundary, would be set well into the site 
and partly screened by the new building. It is a reasonable necessity for the 
site to have a mostly level plateau and retaining structures are not uncommon 
in the area, given the topographical constraints. Considering this, and their 
minimal impact on the wider area’s visual amenity, they are considered 
acceptable. A condition for details of the walling, to be stone, is recommended.  

 

10.42  For boundary treatments, where the site adjoins existing residential properties, 
the existing fencing is to be mostly retained. This consists of between 1.8 and 
2m close boarded timber fencing. However, for properties along the south and 
southeast boundary, the fencing is proposed to be increased to 2.4m acoustic 
fencing, to mitigate potential noise pollution (as detailed in paragraph 10.69). 
This would be set back from the retaining wall and, from such a distance, the 
additional 0.4 or 0.6m is not considered to have significant urban design 
implications.  

 

10.43  A 0.6m timber knee rail is to defined the site’s boundary to Blackmoorfoot 
Road, which, combined with the landscaping in the area, would be attractive. 
Atop the retaining walls, 1.1m metal fencing to act as guarding is currently 
proposed. Officers are not convinced that guarding is required, and having no 
fencing atop the wall would be visually preferable, although appropriate safety 
provisions must be allowed for. Should the 1.1m fencing be necessary for 
safety, this would be acceptable (subject to suitable design), with officers 
satisfied that this matter may be resolved at condition stage (details of all 
boundary treatment to be submitted and approved).  

 

10.44  Finally, the proposal includes 1.8m hit and miss fencing along part of the site’s 
frontage to Turnstone Way. While raising some concern along this frontage, 
the applicant has identified that this is necessary to prevent public access the 
store’s rear service areas, including access to the roof access ladder, and the 
plant / rear fire escape doors. They also consider it necessary to guide people 
out of the fire doors away from Turnstone Way, where there could be oncoming 
traffic, and towards the front of the site. They proposed that the fencing would 
have a 20mm gap between the timbers for improved informal observation from 
the roadside. Finally, it is noted that a similar fence could be erected under 
Permitted Development rights, and there has been one surrounding the site 
since circa 2020 (as part of the neighbouring residential development and to 
secure the site). Given these considerations, on balance, officers consider the 
fencing acceptable.  

 

10.45 Other hard landscaping works include the formation of a car park, a necessary 
and utilitarian feature of the proposed use. The proposed landscaping and 
excavation works would soften its appearance and limit its prominence in the 
area.  

 

10.46 As noted in paragraph 10.38, the proposal includes the removal of two TPO 
trees. These are identified as T1, a sycamore, and T7, a horse chestnut. T7 is 
a smaller specimen that, since its TPO was issued, has degraded in health / 
quality. The applicant’s arboricultural report identifies it as category U, the 
lowest category for grading trees, due to matters including symptoms of 
Bleeding Canker and dieback in the crown. It is considered to be of no public 
amenity and its removal is considered acceptable. T1 is a large, mature tree 
that is visible from public vistas. It is category A, the highest category, and is 
considered to be of public amenity value, forming an attractive feature when 
viewed from Blackmoorfoot Road. Policy LP33 states that ‘Proposals should 
normally retain any valuable or important trees where they make a contribution 
to public amenity’.  Page 37



 
10.47 The loss of T1 is a negative of the proposal, which needs to be considered in 

the planning balance. In justification, the tree is inconveniently located within 
the site, taking a prominent central location near to the proposed point of 
access. The proposed point of access is that part-built on-site when 
Turnbridge Road was built, and cannot be moved without relocating the 
proposed building. Were the access to be moved (therefore needing to 
relocate the building), the tree would still prevent the siting of the building in a 
large portion of the site. Officers have explored options with the applicant, and 
concluded that the retention of the tree would unduly limit both the size and 
operation of a new building and its car park. This included considering whether 
the tree could be moved, either within the site or elsewhere. Due to its size 
and age, this was concluded to be unrealistic and likely to result in fatal 
damage to the tree.  

 
10.48  In mitigation for the loss of the trees, the application includes an attractive 

landscaping proposal which includes the planting of 14 standard trees. This 
includes 12 of the trees along the site’s boundaries, with a concentration to 
the frontage onto Blackmoorfoot Road, which is welcomed. Two of the trees 
would be within the car park, enhancing what would otherwise be a large hard-
surfaced area.   

 
10.49 Weighing the reasoning for T1’s removal and proposed mitigatory replanting, 

which may be secured via condition, and the proposals’ other benefits of job 
creation and economic activity, on balance officers do not consider the loss of 
T1 to be a reasonable ground for refusal.  

 
10.50 There are two historic vehicle accesses from Blackmoorfoot Road into the site 

which are now closed off and redundant. The applicant’s submission 
references landscaping them, to remove the possibility of on road parking. 
This is welcomed and, in addition to highway benefits, would enhance the 
appearance of the area. This may be secured via condition.  

 
10.51  Summarising the urban design implications of the proposal, the proposal is 

concluded to represent an attractive and well considered design. Despite 
being a different form of development to that it would be immediately seen 
alongside, it would reflect and respect local character and harmonise well in 
its setting. Subject to the given conditions, officers are supportive of the 
proposed design, and consider that the development complies with policy 
LP24 of the Kirklees Local Plan. 

 
  Historic environment  
 
10.52  There are several Grade II listed buildings within close proximity to the site, all 

of which are terraced dwellings fronting (or are back-to-back properties) onto 
Blackmoorfoot Road. These are numbers 174 – 190 (even properties only), 
194, 200, 303 and 305 Blackmoorfoot Road.  

 
10.53  Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

introduce a general duty in respect of consideration listed buildings when 
assessing planning applications. In considering whether to grant planning 
permission for development which affects a heritage asset or its setting, the 
Local Planning Authority should have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest which it possesses. 

Page 38



 
10.54  Due regard must be given to the heritage significance of the identified heritage 

assets. The applicant’s heritage impact assessment states: 
 

  These buildings are among the first terraced houses to be built in 
Crosland Moor in an area that had been predominantly agricultural prior 
to the 19th-century. These buildings derive much of their significance 
from their early construction which is reflected in the proportions of the 
buildings and the design of the mullion windows and stone door 
surrounds and gutter brackets. 

 
10.55  Officers concur with the above assessment of significance. With regard to the 

impact of the proposal, the applicant’s heritage impact assessment continues:  
   

  The setting of these buildings has changed over time due to the 
introduction of later-20th century development along Blackmoorfoot 
Road and the demolition of earlier school buildings on the site, followed 
by the demolition of St Luke’s Hospital. More recently the setting has 
been changed with the development of new homes on the St Luke’s 
Hospital site. These homes are set back from the main road, behind the 
site of the proposed development. The vacant site breaks the pattern of 
development along Blackmoorfoot Road and only allows for views 
across the recently completed housing on Turnstone Way. It makes no 
contribution to the significance of the surrounding heritage assets. In this 
context, the listed buildings on Blackmoorfoot Road are not considered 
to be sensitive to the proposed development.  

 
  The proposed development will see a new building constructed on the 

site for the first time since the mid-20th-century. The proposed foodstore 
will feature locally sourced stone on the principal elevations along with 
grey coloured roofing that will allow the building to sit comfortably 
alongside the surrounding stone buildings and slate roofs. Although the 
building will have a modern design, this is appropriate in the context of 
the recently constructed housing to the south. The store will be set back 
from the northern edge of the site to avoid the building appearing too 
prominently in views along Blackmoorfoot Road. The proposed areas of 
landscaping and additional tree planting will help to soften the 
appearance of the new building and surface car park 

 
  Overall, the proposed development will have a neutral effect on the 

setting of this group of listed buildings and a no effect on their 
significance. 

 
10.56  Again, officers concur with the findings of the applicant’s Heritage Impact 

Assessment and are satisfied that the proposal would not harm the identified 
heritage significant or value of the noted heritage assets. While it should be 
noted that the above assessment pre-dates the amendments to the proposal 
(including the change in location of the building within the site), officers are 
satisfied the assessment made would not materially change.  

 
10.57  The applicant’s Heritage Impact Assessment also considers the 

development’s potential impact upon Castle Hill (scheduled ancient 
monument) and Victoria Tower (Grade II listed). While the site is circa 3km 
away from these heritage assets, given their outlook and position upon a 
hillside, there is a potential for impact. Nevertheless, by virtue of the proposal 

Page 39



being within a heavily built-up area, if the proposed development can be 
glimpsed in views from these heritage assets it would represent a very minor 
change to a localised part of their distant setting. It would also be seen in the 
context of existing development and would not change the character of this 
part of the setting. 

 
10.58  Summarising the above, the proposal development would not impact upon the 

heritage significance of the identified heritage assets, and would therefore 
have a neutral impact. Accordingly, the proposal is considered to comply with 
the aims of policy LP35 and Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  

 
  Residential Amenity 
 
10.59  Local Plan policy LP24 requires developments to provide a high standard of 

amenity for future and neighbouring occupiers, including by maintaining 
appropriate distances between buildings. 

 
10.60  The proposed building would be in excess of 60m from properties on the north 

of Blackmoorfoot Road. It would be over 40m from properties on the south. 
These separation distances negate concerns of overbearing, overshadowing, 
or overlooking upon properties on Blackmoorfoot Road.  

 

10.61  To the east of the site is a row of terraced properties on Chapel Terrace. The 
rear elevations of these properties would face towards the new building at a 
distance of circa 25m. While the new building would be on a higher ground 
level than these properties, this distance, and the existing and proposed 
boundary treatments between the existing and proposed structures, would be 
effective screening and prevent any harmful overbearing, overshadowing, or 
overlooking upon the Chapel Terrace properties.  

 

10.62  To the south and west of the site are the new properties on Turnstone Way. 
Those which have side elevations facing towards the site would not have a 
clear view towards the new building and are not subject to impacts such as 
overbearing or overshadowing. For the properties which have rear elevations 
facing towards the site, the distance between them and the new building 
varying between 16.5m (34 Turnstone Way) and 47m (54 Turnstone Way), 
and each would have a clear view (bar boundary fencing) towards the new 
building. However, the new building would be on a lower ground level than the 
identified dwellings, and would be single storey (albeit taller than a typical 
residential single storey), minimising its visual presence. Officers are satisfied 
that the identified distances, including that of the closest property, 34 
Turnstone Way, are sufficient to prevent the new building causing harmful 
overbearing impacts upon residents. Being due north, and on a lower level, 
overshadowing would not be caused. Likewise, due to having no windows 
facing towards the properties in question, overlooking would not be caused. 

 

10.63  While the new building would not cause direct harm through overbearing, 
overshadowing, or overlooking upon neighbouring properties, due regard 
must be given to other potential impacts.  

 

10.64  The site, including the car park, is to be illuminated. As there are dwellings 
immediately adjacent to the site, poorly designed lighting may lead to lighting 
pollution which could affect amenity. The applicant has provided sufficient 
details to demonstrate there is no fundamental concern however, with a 
condition recommended for a fully detailed strategy to be submitted and 
approved.  

Page 40



 
10.65  The site is to include an ancillary bakery, and therefore due regard must be 

given to odour impacts. The application is supported by proposed ventilation 
and ducting details, which have been reviewed and accepted by K.C. 
Environmental Health. A condition is therefore recommended to ensure the 
proposal operates in accordance with the submitted details.  

 
10.66 Finally, consideration must be given to noise pollution. The application is 

supported by a Noise Impact Assessment which has been reviewed by K.C. 
Environmental Health. The proposed opening hours are: 

 
 Monday to Saturday: 0800 to 2200.  
 Sunday: Sunday trading states, none given.  

 
  By virtue of Sunday Trading Laws, it can be assumed the site would operate 

either 1000 – 1600, or 1100 – 1700 and is assessed as such hereafter, 
although clarification has been sought from the applicant.  

 
10.67  The above hours of operation (subject to clarification regarding Sunday) and 

trade are acceptable and not anticipated to, in themselves, cause harmful 
noise pollution. They may be secured via condition. However, further 
consideration must be given to any plant noise, delivery times, and the car 
park.  

 
10.68 With regard to the site’s plant, the applicant proposes a maximum allowable 

noise level which has been considered and accepted by K.C. Environmental 
Health. A condition requiring this limit be adhered to is recommended.   

 
10.69 A loading bay is proposed to the south of the building. For deliveries, the 

proposed hours of delivery are: 
 

 Monday to Friday: 0700 – 2200 
 Saturday: 0800 – 2200  
 Sunday: 1000 – 1600  

 
  The proposal states that, in order to screen the neighbouring properties 

closest to the loading bay from the effects of the loading bay, a 2.4m high solid 
timber fence must be installed along the southeastern and southern sites 
boundaries stating the base of the fence should be on top of the proposed 
retaining wall. The visual implications of this fence are considered in 
paragraph 10.42 above. Officers accept the methodology and proposed 
mitigation as a suitable means to control noise. With regard to the fence 
increasing in height, as it would be set to the rear of their properties and to the 
north, officers do not anticipate this to lead to harmful overbearing or 
overshadowing for residents.  

 
10.70  Notwithstanding the above, K.C. Environmental Health have advised that a 

condition for a Delivery Management Plan be imposed. This is to consider any 
operational noise not covered in the submitted assessment e.g. reversing 
bleepers, refrigeration units, vehicle engines left running etc. Furthermore, 
they note that the submitted Noise Impact Assessment does not include 
consideration of the car park and that several nearby dwellings have been 
constructed (as part of the neighbouring estate’s phased development) since 
the currently submitted noise assessment was undertaken. While there is no 
concern that the car park would produce a prohibitive degree of noise, or that Page 41



the new dwellings would have a greater impact upon them, it is considered 
judicious to require an updated Noise Impact Assessment that incorporates 
assessment of the car park and new dwellings too, the ensure the mitigation 
strategy is fully suitable. Officers concur with this and recommend such a 
condition be imposed.  

 
10.71  Poorly managed construction can harm the amenity of nearby residents. A 

condition requiring the submission and approval of a Construction 
(Environmental) Management Plan (C(E)MP) is recommended. The 
necessary discharge of conditions submission would need to sufficiently 
address the potential amenity impacts of construction work at this site, 
including cumulative amenity impacts should other nearby sites be developed 
at the same time. Details of dust suppression measures would need to be 
included in the C(E)MP. An informative regarding hours of noisy construction 
work is recommended. 

 
10.72  In summary, officers are satisfied that the proposal would not result in material 

harm to the amenity of nearby residents, subject to the recommended 
conditions. Therefore, the proposal would comply with the aims and objectives 
of policies LP24, LP51, and LP52 of the Kirklees Local Plan.   

 
  Highways 
  
10.73 Local Plan policy LP21 requires development proposals to demonstrate that 

they can accommodate sustainable modes of transport and can be accessed 
effectively and safely by all users. The policy also states that new development 
would normally be permitted where safe and suitable access to the site can 
be achieved for all people, and where the residual cumulative impacts of 
development are not severe.  

 
10.74 The NPPF states that, in assessing applications for development, it should be 

ensured that appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport 
modes can be – or have been – taken up, that safe and suitable access to the 
site can be achieved for all users, and that any significant impacts from the 
development on the transport network (in terms of capacity and congestion), 
or highway safety, can be cost-effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree. 
The NPPF continues that that development should only be prevented or 
refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 
highways safety, or if the residual cumulative impacts on the road network 
would be severe. 

 
10.75 The development is to be accessed from Turnstone Way, a road originally 

approved as part of applications 2014/93099 (and associated applications 
2018/93201, and 2019/93902). Turnstone Way is under construction at the 
time of writing, although it is at an advanced state and suitable for temporary 
use. However, what has been built of the road has been done so incorrectly, 
without complying with the relevant planning conditions, nor securing a 
Section 38 agreement. The applicant for the aforementioned applications, for 
the residential estate, is currently undertaking remedial works to resolve this 
matter. For the purposes of this assessment, Turnstone Way has been 
considering and assessed as being built in accordance with the approved 
details.  

  

Page 42



 
10.76 First considering traffic generation, the proposal is anticipated to generate the 

following vehicle movements: 
 

 Arrivals Departure Two-way 
Weekday PM Peak 97 96 194 
Saturday Peak 138 133 271 

 
 K.C. Highways have considered these traffic volumes, including factoring in 

annual growth, and the potential impact on local junctions and traffic flows. It 
has been concluded that the local network and junctions may accommodate 
the additional flow without a severe impact.  

 
10.77 It should be noted that as part of 2014/93099 (the outline for both retail 

development on the applicant site, and residential development on the 
neighbouring site), it was intended that the Turnstone Way and Blackmoorfoot 
Road junction would be signalised. The applicant has provided an 
assessment, factoring in more up-to-date data, including actual traffic flows, 
and the smaller scale of the retail element now proposed. This has found that 
the junction would operate within capacity as a priority junction, including at 
peak times. Thus, K.C. Highways Development Management no longer 
consider it necessary or desirable for the Turnstone Way and Blackmoorfoot 
Road junction to be signalised, and therefore it does not form part of this 
proposal nor is it a recommended requirement.  

 
10.78 Regarding the point of access, access would be taken from Turnstone Way. 

The design of the point of access (from Turnstone Way) is considered 
acceptable, although full technical details and delivery of the access would be 
secured via a recommended condition. However, notwithstanding the 
comments in paragraph 10.75, as noted Turnstone Way itself, and the 
Turnstone Way and Blackmoorfoot Road junction, have not been constructed 
in compliance with approved details. The operation of this site, with the 
junction not built in accordance with the approved plans, is a concern. 
Accordingly, a condition is recommended requiring that the applicant provide 
details of improvements to the Turnstone Way and Blackmoorfoot Road, and 
that said works be implemented prior to the foodstore being brought into use.  

 
10.79 The internal car park’s layout is considered acceptable. It has been through 

appropriate Road Safety Audit and concluded to operate safely. The level of 
parking has been demonstrated to be commensurate to the scale of the 
proposed development. Adequate space would be provided for both customer 
vehicle movements and service vehicles, including both delivery and refuse 
collection. A condition requiring the car parking to be delivered in accordance 
with the approved plans, prior to the building being brought into use and 
retained thereafter, is recommended.  

 
10.80 Consideration has been given to pedestrian movements. A condition requiring 

the delivery of a 2m wide footway along the site’s frontage onto Turnstone 
Way is recommended: this was partly implemented as part of the residential 
development, pending delivery of the retail element. A direct route through the 
site to the north onto Blackmoorfoot Road, and the adjacent bus stop, would 
be welcomed, however because of different levels steps would be required, 
would require the removal of a parking space, and lead into the car park. Given 
the indirect route via Turnstone Way is safer, more level, and only marginally 
longer, the proposed arrangement is accepted.  Page 43



 
10.81 The existing bus stop facilities on Blackmoorfoot Road adjacent to the site 

access are to be upgraded as part of the residential development aspect of 
the site allocation. No further improvements are considered necessary to 
facilitate the current proposal. In terms of cycle provision, five cycle loops are 
proposed which will be able to accommodate ten bikes. These would be 
prominently located. As a discount food shop, where larger purchases are 
expected, cycling to the store by customers is expected to be low, although 
not necessarily non-existent.  Accordingly, the cycle facilities for customers 
are acceptable, and may be secured via condition. However, such facilities 
are not suitable for longer-term bike storage, such as by staff. In terms of staff 
cycling, no dedicated facilities have been proposed. A condition requiring the 
provision of adequate facilities for staff is therefore recommended.  

 
10.82 The applicant has submitted a draft Travel Plan, detailing means of promoting 

sustainable travel, although it lacks the level of detail expected for a full Travel 
Plan. Therefore, it is recommended that a fully detailed Travel Plan be secured 
via planning condition although, given the smaller scale of the development, a 
Travel Plan monitoring fee is not considered necessary.  

 
10.83 The proposal would not prejudice the safe and effective operation of the local 

highway network. It is suitably located and would allow for sustainable travel 
measures. The internal layout would provide sufficient parking and 
manoeuvring facilities. Overall, the proposal is deemed to comply with the 
aims and objectives of policies LP21 and LP22 of the Kirklees Local Plan.  

 
  Drainage and flood risk 
 
10.84  The size of the development, and its location within Flood Zone 1, means there 

is no requirement for a Flood Risk Assessment. There are no concerns relating 
to fluvial flood risk for the development.  

 
10.85   Regarding pluvial (rain water) flooding and management, the proposal is 

supported by a drainage strategy. Due regard has been given to the drainage 
hierarchy, with infiltration and discharge to watercourse discounted due to the 
ground conditions and lack of nearby watercourse. Therefore, the point of 
discharge is to be the combined sewer on Blackmoorfoot Road, which is 
accepted.  

 
10.86  The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) have raised concerns over the 

drainage strategy as currently submitted. This is due to technicalities 
regarding the attenuation tank caused by the proposed discharge rate and 
base level. The applicant has proposed a greenfield discharge rate of 3.1l/s. 
However, as a brownfield site, a higher discharge rate can be accepted (30% 
reduction from previous discharge rate). As part of the wider re-development 
of the whole former St Luke’s site, a sizable pre-existing discharge rate was 
identified, a portion of which was set aside during the residentials re-
development for this parcel of land. Officers and the LLFA are satisfied that, if 
utilising the higher permitted discharge rate, the identified design issues could 
be resolved and that these matters may be resolved via condition.   

 
10.87   Based on the submitted layout and topography the LLFA hold no in-principal 

concerns regarding exceedance event flood-routing (i.e., the unexpected 
event where the drainage system fails) at the site. In such events, water is 
expected to be directed away from dwelling houses and avoiding their 

Page 44



domestic curtilages wherever possible. As the site falls towards Turnstone 
Way, which would collect the water, no flood water would be directed towards 
third party dwellings. Nonetheless, a condition for a detailed exceedance 
event flood routing strategy being submitted and implemented is 
recommended. 

 
10.88  Details of the maintenance and management of the proposed surface water 

drainage system, to ensure it remains in appropriate working order, would 
need to be secured. Also, details of temporary surface water drainage 
arrangements, during construction, are proposed to be secured via a 
condition. 

 
10.89 Considering the above, subject to the proposed conditions, the proposal is 

concluded by officers and the LLFA to comply with the aims and objectives of 
policies LP28 and LP29 of the Kirklees Local Plan.  

 
  Ecology 
 
10.90  Policy LP30 of the KLP states that the council will seek to protect and enhance 

the biodiversity of Kirklees. Development proposals are therefore required to 
result in no significant loss or harm to biodiversity and to provide net 
biodiversity gains where opportunities exist. The application is supported by 
an Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA) which has been reviewed by K.C. 
Ecology. This document, which is informed by on-site surveys, considers the 
site’s value as habitat as well as the proposals direct and indirect impact on 
local species. 

  
10.91  The report details that the site primarily comprises of high levels of 

hardstanding with some grassland and scrub also present. The report details 
that overall, the site provides minimal value for ecological receptors, with only 
some suitability for roosting bats and nesting birds present within the trees and 
scrub at the site. The recommendations made in the report indicate that soft 
felling of trees with low bat roosting suitability and a low impact lighting 
strategy to avoid impacts to foraging and commuting bats will be required. In 
addition to the above, standard mitigation measures for nesting birds that may 
be impacted by the proposed development in nesting season, are also 
recommended, which may be secured via condition.  

 
10.92 The proposal pre-dates the national legal requirement for proposals to provide 

a 10% Biodiversity Net Gain. Regardless, policy LP30 has required proposals 
in Kirklees demonstrate a net gain since the Local Plan’s adoption. A 
Biodiversity Net Gain calculation has been undertaken using the DEFRA 
Metric. This sets out that that the development would result in a net loss of 
79.8% (-1.43 units) (with no hedgerow or river units on site). Therefore, a 
commuted sum of £37,030 would be required in order for the development to 
achieve a 10% biodiversity net gain, unless the applicant is able to find an 
alternative site in the vicinity where this could be delivered. This may be 
secured via a Section 106 agreement. 

 
10.93 Notwithstanding the identified off-site contribution, the proposal would deliver 

some habitat units on site (0.36). A condition for an Ecological Design 
Strategy, to detail and secure the on-site delivery, is proposed. The 
management and maintenance of ecological measures for a minimum of 30 
years would also need to be secured. A condition for a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan: Biodiversity is also recommended, to 

Page 45



ensure construction activity is managed in a considerate way, along with a 
lighting strategy to ensure external lighting does not prejudice habitats on or 
adjacent to the site.  

 
10.94 No invasive plant species were identified within the survey work undertaken.  
 
10.95 In summary the proposal would not unduly affect local habitats and, through 

contributions and on-site improvements, would achieve a biodiversity net gain. 
Furthermore, the proposal would have no significant impacts upon local 
species. Subject to the given conditions and securing the off-site ecological 
contribution, the proposal is considered to comply with the aims and objectives 
of policy LP30 of the Kirklees Local Plan. 

 
  Other Matters 
 
  Air quality  
 
10.96  The application is supported by an Air Quality Impact Assessment (AQIA). 

This has been reviewed by K.C. Environmental Health in accordance with 
West Yorkshire Low Emission Strategy (WYLES) Planning Guidance. The 
report details the impact that the development would have on existing air 
quality, and how this would impact existing and future sensitive receptors 
during the construction and operational phases 

 
10.97 For the construction phase of the development, the AQIA acknowledged that 

dust pollution may be caused. This is not unusual and may be addressed via 
a dust mitigation strategy to be included within the Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) recommended to be secured via condition.  

 
10.98 For the operational phase detailed dispersion modelling was undertaken using 

ADMS-Roads (version 5.0.1) to predict changes in pollutant concentrations 
due to traffic emissions caused by the development at 23 existing sensitive 
receptor locations. Model inputs included traffic data provided by Bryan G Hall 
(transport consultants for the project) and included predicted traffic flows from 
several other committed housing developments in the area to determine the 
overall cumulative impact on the nearest Air Quality Management Area 
(AQMA 9). 

 
10.99 The report concludes that for the operational phase the predicted annual NO2, 

PM10 and PM2.5 concentrations will be below the current national air quality 
objectives for both the “without development” and “with development” 
scenarios at all modelled sensitive receptor locations in 2025. Therefore, in 
accordance with the Environmental Pollution UK (EPUK) and Institute of Air 
Quality Management (IAQM) guidance, the overall effect of the proposed 
development on human receptors is considered to be ‘not significant’. 

 
10.100 K.C. Environmental Health broadly agree with the methodology, findings, and 

recommendations of the submitted AQIA. However, an error is noted that the 
nearest Air Quality Management Area, AQMA 10 (Manchester Road), is not 
considered. Given the information available, there are no fundamental 
concerns that the proposal would cause substantial harm to this AQMA, 
however, a condition is recommended requiring an updated AQIA which 
includes an assessment on AQMA 10 is recommended, to ensure any 
mitigation is accurate, and is thereafter implemented.  

 
Page 46



10.101 Regarding electric vehicle charging, the proposal includes the provision two 
EVCP bays. It is unknown what speed of charging these are proposed. K.C. 
Environmental Health recommend that for a development of this size and 
consider 3 fast (7-23kW) or 2 Rapid (43kW+) charging points to be more 
appropriate. A condition requiring an amended strategy is therefore 
recommended.  

 
10.102 Subject to the above conditions, officers are satisfied that the proposal would 

not harm local air quality, nor would occupiers suffer from existing poor air 
quality, in accordance with policy LP51 of the Kirklees Local Plan.  

 
Contamination  

 
10.103 The site is identified as being potentially contaminated. Therefore, the 

application is supported by a Phase 1 Geoenvironmental Risk Assessment 
and Remediation Strategy, which has been reviewed by K.C. Environmental 
Health.  

 
10.104 K.C. Environmental Health considers the methodology and findings of the 

reports to be acceptable. The report concludes that further investigations are 
needed (a Phase II Report), however there are considered to be no 
fundamental reasons regarding contamination which would prohibit the re-
development of the site. The submission of a Phase II Report, and, if needed, 
a remediation strategy may be secured via condition, alongside a condition for 
a validation report to demonstrate the remediation has been successful. 
Subject to these conditions, officers are satisfied that the proposal complies 
with policy LP53 of the Local Plan.  

 
  Crime Mitigation  
 
10.105 The West Yorkshire Police Designing Out Crime Officer has made a number 

of comments and recommendations, particularly with regard to security 
features and boundary treatments. All of the comments made are advisory 
and have been referred to the applicant, with many incorporated into the 
proposal during the amendments.  

 
10.106 A condition is recommended for crime mitigation details to be provided, per 

phase. This would require consideration of the site’s boundary, finding an 
appropriate balance between an attractive design which does not prejudice 
amenity with security being adjacent to a public area, and consideration of the 
security for the bike / car parking area, including lighting.  

 
Minerals   

 
10.107 Mineral resources are finite and their extraction can only take place where the 

minerals naturally occur. The application site falls within an area designed as 
a Mineral Safeguarded Area (Sandstone) in the Local Plan. This allocation 
indicates that there is the potential for these mineral resources to be 
underlying the site. Policy LP38 seeks to ensure the appropriate management 
of minerals and consider whether they may be extracted during development.  

 
10.108 The applicant has made no commentary or assessment on this subject. 

However, officers note that policy LP38 allows exceptions where ‘there is an 
overriding need for the development’. As a mixed use (residential and 
commercial) allocation, this is considered to be applicable to the site. 

Page 47



Furthermore, it is not considered practical for this site to include mineral 
extraction, given the proximity of residential properties (with the site’s narrow 
shape and steepness limiting the feasibility of appropriate separation 
distances and bunds). Accordingly, it is considered that the proposal complies 
with the aims and objectives of policy LP38 regarding mineral safeguarding 
issues. 

 
  Representations 
 
10.109 Most matters raised via the representation period have been addressed 

elsewhere within this report. The following sets out consideration of and 
responses to the matters not previously addressed. 
 
Highways 
 

 Concerns over pre-existing excessive vehicle parking on Turnstone 
Way, which includes residents from neighbouring street, making 
access to properties on Turnstone Way difficult. Turnstone Way 
should have double yellow lines and a crossing point near the junction 
to Blackmoorfoot Road.  

 The proposal should introduce traffic calming on Blackmoorfoot Road, 
which is a known speeding zone.  

 
Response: This application is limited to considerations related to the 
proposed development. It cannot be used to control existing matters. The car 
park for the proposed development is considered sufficient to accommodate 
the proposed development and therefore it is not considered necessary to 
imposed Traffic Regulation Orders on Turnstone Way as part of this proposal. 
Likewise, this proposal is not expected to increase any potential speeding on 
Blackmoorfoot Road.  

 
 Access should be taken from Blackmoorfoot Road, which was 

previously the case for the former hospital.  
 

Response: It is best practice to minimise the number of junctions onto roads, 
therefore the proposed access via Turnstone Way is deemed the most safe 
and efficient.  

 
 Traffic surveys for the proposal were undertaken during a COVID-19 

lockdown and therefore are not representative. Furthermore, it fails to 
take into account other local developments, including the Black Cat 
proposal (for 770 units). It also does not identify all of the recent Road 
Traffic Accidents (including a fatal incident) nor consider non-reported 
incidents.  

 
Response: The submitted documentation and survey work, which includes 
datasets from during and after the COVID lockdowns, is considered to be 
suitably robust and covers all necessary requirements to inform the 
assessment of the proposal.  

  

Page 48



 
Amenity 
 

 The proposal will lead to an increase in vermin within the area.  
 

Response: This is a presumption and falls outside the remit of planning. 
Appropriate waste storage and collection arrangements have been 
demonstrated.  

 
 Adverts and other lights on the site should be dimmed at night to not 

cause light pollution.  
 
Response: Adverts for the site would be considered under a separate 
Advertisement Consent application.  
 
Other  
 

 The land should be used for homes for the elderly.  
 
 Response: Planning decisions must be made in accordance with the 

Development Plan. The Local Plan allocates this site (and the neighbouring 
new housing estate) for mixed use residential and retail, with the expected 
residential element having been achieved, as set out in paragraphs 10.2 – 
10.7.  

 
 The car park will attract anti-social behaviour when the store is closed.  

 
Response: A condition for crime mitigation measures is proposed, as stated 
in paragraph 10.105 – 10.106. This will include consideration of the car park. 

 
10.110 The following is a consideration and response to the comments raised by local 

ward members: 
 

 Concerns over the impact upon the local highway, including traffic 
generation and the junction between Turnstone Way and 
Blackmoorfoot Road.  

 
Response: The proposals impact on the local highway, including traffic 
generation and the junction, is considered through paragraphs 10.73 – 10.83 
And found to be acceptable.  

 
 Raising concerns over potential site security and making sure the site 

does not attract anti-social behaviour.  
 

Response: A condition for crime mitigation measures is proposed, as stated 
in paragraph 10.105 – 10.106. This will include consideration of the car park. 

 
 Question on whether any Section 106 money could be spent providing 

barriers to local paths.  
 
  Response: Planning contributions must directly relate to the development 

being considered. Given this is a pre-existing issue which is not expected to 
be exacerbated by the proposal, officers consider there to be no grounds to 
request such a contribution. 

Page 49



 
11.0  CONCLUSION 

 

11.1   The NPPF has introduced a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. The policies set out in the NPPF taken as a whole constitute the 
Government’s view of what sustainable development means in practice. 

 
11.2  The application site is the last part of a Mixed-Use allocation intended for retail 

and residential use to be developed. The residential use has been achieved 
elsewhere in the allocation. The proposal’s retail floorspace would fall below 
the indicative floor space expectations of the Local Plan, however as set out 
within the report, this is not considered to be a concern. Overall, the proposal 
would represent an effective and efficient use of a Local Plan allocation and 
would promote local employment, which is welcomed. As the proposal 
includes a main town centre use, due regard has been given to the town centre 
sequential test and the impact on nearby local centres, which has been 
concluded to be acceptable. Accordingly, the principle of the development is 
found to be acceptable. 

 
11.3 Site constraints including topography, trees, and various other material 

planning considerations. Nonetheless, the proposed development adequately 
addresses each. The loss of the mature TPO-protected sycamore tree within 
the site is a negative of the proposal, but is deemed justified and on the 
planning balance is acceptable given the other public benefits of the proposal. 
Across negotiations with the applicant, the design and appearance of the site 
has evolved to an acceptable position that would be attractive and harmonise 
well with the character of the area. There would be no undue harm to the 
amenity of neighbouring residents or future occupiers. The proposed access 
and highway impacts have been assessed to be acceptable. Other planning 
issues, such as drainage and ecology have been addressed through the 
proposal. 

 
11.4   This application has been assessed against relevant policies in the 

development plan and other material considerations. It is considered that the 
development would constitute sustainable development and is therefore 
recommended for approval, subject to conditions and planning obligations to 
be secured via a Section 106 agreement.  

 
12.0  CONDITIONS (Summary list – full wording of conditions including any 

amendments/additions to be delegated to the Head of Planning and 
Development) 

 
 Three years to commence development.  
 Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

and specifications. 
 Limit on floorspace (sales and other), convenience and comparison 

good ratio, and no subdivision of the unit. 
 Details of Alternative Low or Zero Carbon (LZC) technologies to be 

submitted, approved and implemented. 
 Landscaping to be done in accordance with plans, with management 

strategy to be approved.  
 Facing materials to be in accordance with plans, with samples to be 

provided and approved. 

Page 50



 Full details, including typical elevations, of all boundary treatment to 
be submitted, approved and implemented. 

 Full details, including typical elevations, of all retaining wall materials 
to be submitted, approved and implemented. 

 Existing points of access onto Blackmoorfoot Road to be closed and 
made good.  

 Proposal to operate in accordance with the submitted ventilation 
details. 

 Lighting strategy to be submitted, approved and implemented. 
 Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) to be 

submitted, approved and implemented. 
 Details and the delivery of a 2m wide footway along Turnstone Way to 

be submitted, approved and implemented. 
 Delivery Management Plan to be submitted, approved and 

implemented. 
 Plant noise levels not to exceed given level.  
 Updates noise impact assessment to be submitted, approved and 

implemented. 
 Customer bicycle storage to be provided. 
 Staff bicycle storage details to be submitted, approved and 

implemented. 
 Details of improvements to Blackmoorfoot Road and Turnstone Way 

junction to be submitted, approved and implemented. 
 Details of point of access from Turnstone Way to be submitted, 

approved and implemented. 
 Car parking to be provided in accordance with plans. 
 Full drainage strategy to be to be submitted, approved and 

implemented (with note regarding discharge rate), including 
management and maintenance details.  

 Flood routing strategy to be submitted, approved and implemented. 
 Temporary construction drainage strategy to be submitted, approved 

and implemented. 
 No clearance in bird breeding season to take place, without survey. 
 Lighting strategy for ecology to be submitted, approved and 

implemented. 
 Trees to be felled in accordance with ecological recommendations.  
 Updated AQIA to be submitted, approved and implemented. 
 Updated EVCP to be submitted, approved and implemented. 
 Contaminated land investigations, remediation, and validation to be 

submitted, approved and implemented. 
 Crime mitigation measures to be submitted, approved and 

implemented. 
 

Background Papers 
 

Application and history files 
 

Available at: 
 

https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/search-for-planning-
applications/detail.aspx?id=2023%2f91405 
 

Certificate of Ownership  
 

Certificate B signed.  
 
 
 

 

Page 51

https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/search-for-planning-applications/detail.aspx?id=2023%2f91405
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/search-for-planning-applications/detail.aspx?id=2023%2f91405


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	3 Declaration of Interests and Lobbying
	Signed: ………………………………………… Dated: ……………………………………..
	Lobbying

	7 Planning Applications
	9 Planning Application - Application No: 2023/91405
	Subject: Planning Application 2023/91405 Erection of foodstore (class E) with associated access, parking, servicing area and landscaping Part of former St Luke's Hospital site, Blackmoorfoot Road, Crosland Moor, Huddersfield, HD4 5RA


